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believe, 12 pages attached.

A Uh-huh. 

Q It's a copy of the front page as of, I believe, 

today or yesterday Governor Bevin's official home 

page --

A Yes. 

Q -- is that correct?  And how do we know that it's 

his official home page? 

A It looks like his home page to me just because of 

my recognition of seeing this.  But then also the 

blue verified checkmark is always something that I 

know that denotes that.  But I recognize the 

header up here (indicating) as well as just the 

general layout of it. 

Q Okay.  And so what does the blue checkmark mean? 

A I believe it means that we are a verified account 

as opposed to, I guess, the vast majority of 

people that are just an ordinary or regular 

account but someone that Twitter has verified as a 

government official or an official account. 

Q And there's a link on there that says 

"governor.ky.gov" on the left-hand side; 

do you see that? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And where does that page link to? 
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A That link would take you to our official 

Governor's web page, which is where our 

information resides as far as the Governor's 

office and also press releases and so forth. 

Q And what does it say under his user name for his 

bio?  Do you see where his user name is? 

A Okay.  I'm sorry. 

Q Well, let's just go through it.  

A Okay. 

Q So it says, "Governor Matt Bevin."  That's his 

name that he uses to identify himself, correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And then there's an @GovMattBevin.  What is that 

referred to as? 

A That is his Twitter handle that is specific to our 

account there that on Twitter it identifies him. 

Q And then below that, it identifies him as what?  

A The Governor of the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

Q Okay.  

(Exhibit 3 marked)

Q I'm handing you what has been marked as Exhibit 

No. 3.  

A Thank you.  

Q Okay.  And I will represent that this is several 

pages of screenshots of Governor Bevin's official 
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Facebook page; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And there's also a blue check next to 

Governor Matt Bevin's name at the top left-hand 

corner; do you see that? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And what does that checkmark mean? 

A I believe that is very similar to the Twitter 

verified, in that for higher profile users that 

that is a verified account so that individuals 

know that that person is -- is indeed who they 

represent themselves as. 

Q Okay.  And what is listed under contact info?  

I believe it is on the left-hand side -- 

right-hand side.  

A Right-hand side.  Contact info, would that be our 

website again and linking to that Governor -- 

Q Hold on.  Actually, it might not be on that page.  

But let's talk about what is on there.  

A Sure. 

Q So on the community it suggests that there are 

127,000 people, approximately, that have liked 

this.  What does that mean? 

A My understanding is that would be anyone who is a 

Facebook user them self who chose to click "like" 
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their point of view.  

Q What do you mean by "advocacy groups"? 

A Just for an example, I don't know -- recall if 

this was a specific one recently we've had, but 

there's a very active contingent of legalization 

of marijuana, for example.  And a lot of times, 

you know, those posts will be multiple posts on 

the same one.  Again, if it is adoption and foster 

care, within that discussion you will just see 

from the same person, you know, three or four or 

five posts in a row with the exact same text copy 

and posted in there -- copy and pasted in there. 

Q So if I were this new person, what I should be 

looking for is something within the same post? 

A Yes.  And usually, my experience has been, they 

will almost certainly be just copied and pasted.  

There won't be individual nuance to them.  It will 

be the exact same post over and over again within 

the same post or within the same day, just 

multiple times.  It kind of sticks out to you 

because you can see that as you are scrolling 

pretty easily. 

Q Okay.  I want to talk a little bit about your 

understanding of the process for posting a tweet 

by Governor Bevin.  
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Q (Moved head up and down). 

A Gosh.  I'm trying to think in my mind.  I -- I 

believe -- I know on Twitter there is a feed that 

you can see.  On Facebook we have notifications 

that will come in, so you can see a portion of 

them, not all at once but you do see a portion 

when you get the notification up here that there 

are new comments. 

Q But with respect to the actual Twitter page, when 

you first go to the Governor Matt -- 

@GovMattBevin's official Twitter page, those 

possibly offending replies don't show up, correct? 

A Correct.  It would -- it would be a matter of 

clicking here (indicating) to expand and see 

what's below. 

Q Okay.  After you capture the screenshot, left 

click and click block, are there any other steps 

in the process of blocking somebody? 

A No, no. 

Q Do you tell anybody else that, "Hey, I blocked x 

number of people today"? 

A No.  No.  To be quite honest with you, it's not 

one of my favorite things.  It's -- that can be a 

pretty dingy place sometimes.  And it is not my 

favorite thing.  I kind of like to move on to the 
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A There is -- I am not as familiar on the Facebook 

side as Twitter.  But there is an actual block or 

ban ability on that if a person is violating that, 

similar to Twitter. 

Q And are you aware there is also like a hide or 

delete a comment? 

A Yes.  I have seen that on there as well before. 

Q And so how do you distinguish between hide, 

delete, block?  

A As far as, I believe, that our filter will 

automatically hide some comments that have that.  

But as -- as any computer program, I don't believe 

it does catch everything and so there are things 

that slip through sometimes. 

Q So there's an automatic filter, you are saying? 

A Yes. 

Q Okay.  And did you set that automatic filter? 

A No, I did not. 

Q Did someone in your office set that? 

A Yes.  I believe that has been set up since before 

I arrived. 

Q Do you know who set that up? 

A I do not know the answer to that. 

Q And so if it is triggered by that automatic 

filter, what happens to the comment? 
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A The comment will be grayed out.  You can still see 

it as you are scrolling through.  But it is grayed 

out, where I'm assuming it is not visible to the 

public if it's been blocked. 

Q So when you say you can see it, you mean you 

the -- 

A As the administrator, yes, sir. 

Q Okay.  Thank you.  

And then if there is one that's not grayed 

out, a comment that is not grayed out but you 

still think meets a criteria of either blocking, 

hiding, or deleting, how do you distinguish 

between whether you want to hide that comment, 

delete that comment, or block the individual 

permanently? 

A On that?  What I usually do, if it's -- I kind of 

go by the same guidelines as Twitter.  If it is 

someone who is violating, I will go ahead and hide 

the comment.  But then I will also block the user, 

similar to Facebook that way.  Or ban I guess is 

the terminology of Facebook. 

Q And if you were to just hide the comment, would 

that have any other effect on that user; do you 

know?  

A I don't think so.  I don't know the answer.  I'm, 
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Q When you are using the computer for Facebook or 

Twitter, is that a State-issued computer? 

A Yes, it is. 

Q Okay.  And when you said sometimes you do it over 

the phone, is that a State-issued phone? 

A Yes.  I have a State-issued phone that is logged 

into our Twitter account.  And then also our 

Facebook admin on that, too.  So I can view those. 

Q And the work that you have been describing with 

respect to Facebook and Twitter, those are all 

done during work hours? 

A Yes.  There are times, just because of the nature 

of it, that, you know, we do them outside of work 

hours.  I try to keep track as best I can of the 

hours.  But in the evenings and a lot of times on 

weekends we still do need to check.  

Q And if you do check, you're considering that is 

part of your work? 

A Yes.  Yep.  

(Exhibits 5 and 6 marked)

Q Okay.  I have handed you what has been marked as 

Plaintiff's Deposition Exhibits 5 and 6.  

Exhibit 5 is Defendant's Responses to Plaintiffs' 

First Set of Discovery Requests.  And Exhibit 6 is 

Defendant's Supplemental Responses to Plaintiffs' 
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Q It then lists 18 individuals?  

A Yes.  That looks to be correct.  

Q Okay.  

A Just counting real quick. 

Q Yes.  Go ahead.  I want you to make sure.

(Witness reviews document)

A Yes, sir, 18 individuals.  

Q Okay.  And it indicates -- the response indicates 

that they were involved in three possible topics; 

correct? 

A Uh-huh.  Yes.  Posting, blocking or banning and 

having deleted or hidden off-topic comments. 

Q Okay.  I want to just go through each of these 18 

and give me your understanding of what they did of 

those three and the nature of their involvement.  

A Sure. 

Q So let's talk about Blake Brickman.  He is the 

chief of staff? 

A Chief of staff, yes, sir. 

Q And he has been in that role for the entirety 

of --

A Yes, sir. 

Q -- the time frame at issue here? 

A I believe so.  I know that he was brought on early 

on, my understanding.  I did not join the 
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administration until April of '16.  But I believe 

Blake has been here since the inception. 

Q Okay.  And was he involved in posting content? 

A Not to my knowledge, no. 

Q And what about blocking or banning accounts? 

A Again, not to my knowledge that he had involvement 

in that. 

Q And what about deleting or hid an off-topic? 

A Not to my knowledge is that something that he has 

been involved with. 

Q So what is your understanding of his involvement 

with the Governor's official Facebook or Twitter 

page? 

A I don't know that I would be able to answer a 

direct involvement on what he would do, per se, 

other than just as chief of staff obviously 

having, you know, direct oversight of all our 

departments.  

But I am not familiar with his role in 

actually posting, deleting, or hiding anything on 

either of our accounts. 

Q Okay.  And if at any point for these you don't 

know, that's okay.  

A Okay.  

Q I want to know what you know.  
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A Okay.  

Q And if there is somebody who would know, let me 

know --

A Okay.  

Q -- okay?  

A Okay.  

Q So who would know what Blake's involvement with 

maintaining the Governor's official Facebook or 

Twitter accounts would be, other than Blake 

himself? 

A I was going to say Blake is the only one I would 

know for sure.  

Q Would the Governor know? 

A There was about -- I guess there was almost a full 

year between -- or there was a full year between 

the administration beginning and when I came on 

board up here, so I couldn't speak to that time 

before.  But I wouldn't know besides Blake himself 

on that. 

Q And would the Governor know?  

A I don't know the answer to that, either.  

Q Okay.  Would Amanda know? 

A I -- I don't know.  I -- I apologize.  I don't 

know the answer to that, either. 

Q Okay.  We'll move on.  
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Nicole Burton, what is your understanding of 

her involvement? 

A Nicole would be involved in all three aspects of 

that, the posting, blocking, and -- or is it -- 

is there a third one?  I'm sorry.  

Q So let's -- 

A Deleting, hiding.  Sorry. 

Q Just to make it clear what we're looking at, for 

purposes of this one let's just look at Exhibit 6.  

A Okay.  Posting, blocking, and deleting, yes, that 

would -- Nicole would be involved in all three 

aspects. 

Q Okay.  And Jessica Ditto? 

A I would not be able to speak to her, either.  

She had departed by the time I was hired here. 

Q And what was her role before you departed? 

A She was the communications director prior to 

Amanda Stamper. 

Q Okay.  Is it your understanding that she would 

have been involved in developing some of the 

criteria that we had discussed before about what 

led to people being blocked? 

A I don't know the answer to that, either.  She had 

departed probably three months at least before I 

arrived, so I do not know the answer to that. 
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Q Catherine Easley? 

A She also preceded my time.  She was, I believe, a 

deputy chief of staff for external communications, 

if I'm remembering her title correctly.  But, 

again, had departed before I arrived.  

Q So you don't know what her involvement was with 

maintaining the Governor's official Facebook or 

Twitter accounts? 

A No, sir.  I am not familiar with that. 

Q And can you just repeat her --

A Sure. 

Q -- title again? 

A I hope I'm telling you all right.  But I do 

believe she was the deputy chief of staff for 

external communications.  External affairs, 

perhaps. 

Q That's okay.  

A Let me add a few more words to that.  

MR. MEREDITH:  I think it was 

external affairs. 

MR. SHAPIRO:  That's fine.  

THE WITNESS:  I think that's right.

MR. SHAPIRO:  This isn't a test.  I 

didn't realize there would be so many words 

in one person's title.
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Q And who would know? 

A I would not know, honestly, other than just 

Catherine herself --

Q Okay.  

A -- or Jessica, who -- who would know the answers 

to that. 

Q And when did she depart, approximately? 

A I don't know the answer to that, either. 

Q If you don't know, that's fine.  

A I arrived in Decem -- mid-December of '16.  And I 

know she had departed before then.  But how much 

before, I am not sure. 

Q That's fine.  John Hodgson? 

A He is our operations manager.  I would have the 

same answer for him as Blake.  I don't know him to 

have involvement in those three areas.  But that 

would be something I would have to defer to him.  

I don't know -- know his responsibilities. 

Q And he has been operations manager the entire time 

you have been here? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Who does he report to; do you know? 

A I would assume -- I'm a little rusty on our org 

chart.  But I guess Blake Brickman as chief of 

staff would be at the top of our org chart.  But 
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John is operations manager that works with human 

relations and hiring on boards and commissions and 

those things.  

Q Okay.  Andrew King? 

A Andrew is no longer with us.  He was that deputy 

digital director I referenced earlier under Chase.  

Again, I apologize for the time frame.  But I'm 

thinking it was definitely -- well, I thought I 

was going to be able to say early '18.  I was 

thinking late '17 into early 2018 that he was with 

us.  But my understanding was from working 

concurrently, the same time as him, that he would 

not have been involved in the posting but would 

have helped us with blocking, perhaps, from time 

to time.  

Q And he left approximately when?  If you don't 

know, just...  

A I do not know.  I'm sorry.

Q That's fine.

A I'm sorry.  

Q That's fine.  

A I don't. 

Q I don't want to make this a struggle.  

A It was 2018.  But I -- 

Q Sometimes you know when people leave; sometimes 
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you don't.  I don't want to make this a struggle.  

A Yeah.  I don't know his term.  I'm sorry. 

Q That's fine.  Elizabeth Kuhn? 

A Elizabeth's our current director, joined us in 

mid-January of this year, in 2018.  She would be 

similar to myself and Nicole with posting, 

blocking, and deleting. 

Q Okay.  And you are listed? 

A Yes, sir.  

Q Chris Skates? 

A Chris is our communications adviser.  He serves as 

far as helping with a lot of correspondence that 

goes out as well as helping us just on different 

projects, grants, and things like that.  I believe 

he would be just in -- in the same category there 

as Andrew I mentioned, that he would just help 

with blocking occasionally from time to time.  

Q So did you mention Chris Skates as a member of the 

communications department earlier? 

A I didn't.  And he would be so sad.  I'm sorry I 

left him out.  He is actually across the hall.  He 

would take great offense to that.  But he is 

definitely a member of our team.  But he moved to 

an office across the hall.  He's our long form 

writer, and so he likes to have, I think, less 
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noise.  And so the first opportunity he had to 

move across the hall, he took it.  

MS. GATNAREK:  Our lips are sealed.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  

A But he is very much a part of our team, yes. 

Q And he has been with the team the whole time?

A He precedes me.  I don't believe he has been here 

since the advent of the administration.  But he 

definitely precedes me, when I came on board in 

December of '16. 

Q And he was blocking when you arrived?  He had 

already been doing some of that? 

A Yes.  Yes.  I believe he was helping in that area, 

in that role. 

Q You may have already told me this, and we may be 

getting to that person on this list.  But who was 

the press secretary before you? 

A Amanda was.  I'm sorry.  Amanda Stamper, who 

became communications director, she was the press 

secretary under Jessica Ditto. 

Q And then when Jessica left, she moved up and you 

became the press secretary? 

A The press secretary, exactly.

Q I got it.  Thank you.  Chris Skates.

Ben Goldey? 
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A I have met Ben before, but do not know him well.  

He actually departed, I think literally, just a 

week or so before I arrived, if I remember 

correctly.  I believe he was in an intern capacity 

or a part-time capacity.  So I couldn't really 

speak to what his role was, either.  I met him 

briefly, but that is the extent of my inaction 

with him. 

Q Do you know, if you know, was he involved with 

helping with the blocking? 

A I don't know the answer to that. 

Q And Jordan Morgan? 

A Jordan served as deputy press secretary when I 

arrived.  She helped us a lot with proclamation 

requests and having those executed.  Also kept up 

with a lot of our news clippings that we'll try to 

send around to administration folks so we can keep 

up with what is happening in the news.  And also 

had a role in helping us as well when she was 

here with -- I would say her role would be more 

along the blocking lines as well, my knowledge.  I 

don't remember her posting.  But helping on 

blocking would have been her role.

Q Okay.  Taylor Sears? 

A Taylor was the Governor's personal assistant 
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and/or body man, we called him, when I arrived 

here.  He, I believe, was just one who would help 

block from time to time.  If there were extremely 

high traffic and we were needing some extra help 

on that, Taylor may have helped us.  But he 

departed for a different position not long after I 

began. 

Q So who did he report to? 

A His office was actually there in the 

communications office with us.  His role is 

primarily to accompany the Governor to events and 

make sure to make connections with folks who are 

needing to get business cards to the Governor, 

contacts, follow-ups, that sort of thing.  But he 

did actually have an office there in our 

communications suite. 

Q But he wasn't sort of a part of, in terms of the 

organizational chart, reporting to anybody in the 

communications department? 

A I would say maybe informally.  I don't know that I 

know exactly what the structure would look like on 

a piece of paper.  But we definitely -- he -- we 

had regular communications with him since he 

traveled with the Governor and would help him get 

information he needed and talking points and 
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things like that.  We interacted a lot with 

Taylor. 

Q Did you ever talk to him about who should be 

blocked or the criteria for blocking people or 

deleting comments? 

A No.  I never remember having a conversation with 

Taylor about that. 

Q Who did he get this sort of direction from as to 

what the criteria were for blocking or deleting 

comments? 

A I would have to say I don't know on that one 

because he was here before I was, so that was not 

a conversation I either witnessed or took part in, 

so I don't know the answer to that. 

Q Did you ever see him sort of talk to Amanda about 

a question she might have had, the way you 

described earlier about people shooting some ideas 

or questions about whether somebody should be 

blocked? 

A I do not recall that, no.  He -- most of his time 

was spent actually on the road with the Governor 

at events.  But in the times when he was in the 

office, I never recall any conversations. 

Q So would he have been blocking while he was with 

the Governor? 
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A Again, that's something I would have no knowledge 

of.  When he would actually do that, I wouldn't 

know. 

Q Kathryn Snavely? 

A Yes.  Kathryn is currently with us.  And, I 

apologize, I don't know her exact title.  But she 

is very active in helping us prepare the executive 

summaries for different events that we participate 

in and ceremonies and things like that, gathering 

information from the contacts there in the 

community and with the Cabinets.  And she would 

have a role in the blocking as well.  Not on the 

posting side, but on blocking. 

Q And so you don't know her exact title.  Where does 

she fit in the sort of organizational hierarchy?  

A She would be alongside, I would say, with -- 

with -- currently we have Elizabeth as the 

director and then myself as deputy and Nicole as 

our press secretary.  And she would be in a 

straight line with us.  

Q Okay.  

A External events.  I am not sure.  I would be 

speculating her title.  I need to know them a 

little better, don't I?  

Q No.  It's fine.  You're good.  
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A I may not know, but I can learn.  

MR. MEREDITH:  I will give you a 

quiz next week. 

THE WITNESS:  And I will fail it.  

I will fail it. 

MR. SHAPIRO:  All of those charts 

and everything. 

Q Amanda Stamper?  

A My former boss, communications director during my 

-- I intersected with her from December of 2016 

until January of this year, 2018. 

Q And -- 

A And she would have all three of those, posting, 

blocking, and deleting or hiding. 

Q Okay.  And do you recall having a conversation 

with her about questionable comments, whether to 

block either on Twitter or Facebook? 

A Not a lot.  As -- as we discussed earlier, I'm 

sure that early on in late 2016, early 2017, as I 

was starting to do that, I probably on a couple of 

them showed her, just said, "Hey, I'm going to 

block this.  Is this okay?"  And, you know, she 

would say yes and I would go ahead and do that. 

Q Are there any specific examples you can recall? 

A Oh goodness.  Honestly, I do not recall.  They all 
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kind of run together to me, to be honest with you.  

I don't recall ever even -- I'm just thinking we 

probably did have discussions in the fact that I 

was learning how to do that.  But I don't recall a 

particular account or individual or even what the 

topic would have been. 

Q What about with anyone else?  Do you recall 

anything, like just hit you, yeah, I remember a 

couple of months ago we had this one where I 

couldn't decide whether to block him or not or 

her? 

A Honestly, it's been quite a while for me that I 

really had a discussion about what was -- these 

would have -- these conversations probably would 

have come very early on in my tenure.  

I honestly don't remember a specific 

instance.  I would -- I would -- I would have to 

say I don't know specifically a good example of 

one while I'm sitting here. 

Q What about an example of when someone came to you 

with a question? 

A With a question?  I am not recalling anything off 

the top of my head.  I'm very sorry.  I don't 

recall a specific instance of that, either, of 

what I could give you an example of on that.  
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Yeah, I -- I'm sure when I began with Amanda, 

you know, as I was blocking them I felt a little 

nervous having the keys to the controls of 

blocking and I wanted to make absolutely sure.  So 

my recollection is, I would have probably in an 

abundance of caution just said, "I'm going to 

block this account here because of this.  I just 

want to make sure it is okay."  And of course, 

you know, if I remember correctly, the answer 

would have been, yeah, that's what we were talking 

about, and it would have proceeded there.  But 

since then it more has just been something that 

has been internalized. 

Q And you don't have sort of -- I know when I'm 

training somebody, I will sort of use a specific 

sort of hypothetical or a real case example as a 

way of teaching somebody.  

Do you have one that is sort of a routine 

example that you say, "Here is a tricky one and 

here is a way to sort of think about it"?  

A Not to my knowledge.  I don't recall really having 

a lot of, like I say, official training type 

things.  I would assume the conversations I would 

have had with a new person would have been similar 

to what I did with Amanda, just, you know, someone 
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wanting to be absolutely sure as they are starting 

out, "Hey, am I doing the right thing?"  And we 

would look and say, "Yes, that is spam.  That is 

abusive.  That is something that is objectionable, 

like vulgarity."  But, no, I don't have a good 

like gory details or something that I can give a 

story and say, "This is an example of one like 

that."  Sorry.  

Q Okay.  Leeann Veatch? 

A Veatch (pronouncing). 

Q Veatch.  

A Uh-huh.  She is -- apologies on, again, not 

knowing her exact title.  But she is our liaison 

in Washington, D.C. that assists with 

communications with Congressional offices up 

there, with the different federal bureaucracy, for 

when the Governor's had meetings up there, she 

will help with arrangements there.  

She precedes me, too.  And I am not aware of 

what her role would be in this, either.  I am not 

sure what her role would be.  She's not someone we 

consult to post, so I am not sure what her role 

would be. 

Q Okay.  Jenna Williams? 

A Jenna was our former receptionist that was down 
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the hall here in Room 100, the main office for the 

Governor's suite, who was the receptionist to 

greet guests as they arrived.  And my time 

intersecting with Jenna, she was not helping on 

the posting side but would just help us with some 

blocking, because she had some time when she was 

up there that she would be able to help scroll 

through and be of assistance to us.  So that was 

Jenna's role. 

Q And who provided the guidance to Jenna about the 

criteria for blocking? 

A I did not do that, so I am not sure.  I'm assuming 

Amanda Stamper, but I would not -- that was not me 

personally. 

Q John Zurowski?

A John is our graphics director that I referenced 

earlier.  He primarily does our graphic design and 

layout and helps a lot with the video team as 

well, putting those together.  And John does not 

post.  He does create items we put in the posts, 

as far as when you see the graphics information or 

things like that, photos sometimes.  He helps us 

with those.  But his role would be more on the 

blocking side.  

Q And do you know who provided John with an 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-1   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 27 of 46 - Page ID#:
 779



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

SWORN TESTIMONY, PLLC
Lexington & Louisville

(859) 533-8961 | sworntestimonyky.com

92

explanation of the criteria for blocking? 

A I do not know the answer to that, either.  

Q And John has been here for how long? 

A We began almost simultaneously.  I believe I was 

December 16th, and I think he came in maybe the 

2nd or 3rd day of January following. 

Q And Matthew G. Bevin? 

A Obviously the Governor and the accounts that bear 

his name.  As I mentioned before, there are times 

that he will post content, with those being his 

account.  And particularly on the Twitter side.  

I am not as familiar on Facebook, but I do know he 

will post from time to time on -- on the Twitter 

account.  

I do not know the nature or extent of either 

blocking or deleting, anything like that.  I just 

know that he will post from time to time.  And he 

will sometimes directly do that and other times if 

he has an idea, like for his shave or grow 

fundraiser we were putting on, he would direct us 

in what direction to go with that and we would 

work on that.  But then other times, like Saturday 

night, more of just a post on his own he 

initiated. 

Q And what about the second and third areas? 
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A I am not aware of the nature or if -- if he does 

that or how he does that.  I've not had 

discussions with him about how he does that. 

Q And who would know? 

A I would assume he would himself.  But I don't know 

anyone else that does. 

Q Have you ever had any conversations with the 

Governor about blocking or banning people? 

A The only conversations I've ever had with him 

would have been if he noticed someone on there 

that we had missed that he may, you know, say, 

"Hey, you need to check out, you know, this person 

is being vulgar on there and that sort of thing."  

That has been a very limited number of times.  But 

I can recall just a very few handful of times 

where he's mentioned seeing an account on there 

and wanting us to go and make sure, if they were 

behaving inappropriately to take care of that. 

Q Are there any in particular that you remember? 

A The one that pops out to me from -- from my 

discussions with him was in regards to we had done 

a video feature on a lady in the Fort Knox area, 

I believe, who had -- I think she made pies for 

the outgoing and incoming, maybe, officers there 

at Fort Knox.  And we had posted a video and he 
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had happened to notice, I think over the weekend 

or something, that someone was using vulgarity on 

that.  And I think I remember that just because 

with her being a pie lady.  But I do remember her 

mentioning -- him mentioning that someone was on 

there being really vulgar on that particular post.  

But that's honestly the only one that sticks 

out to me.  It's not a common occurrence.  But 

there has been a couple of times where he has seen 

something and been concerned that it was on there. 

Q Any other ones you recall? 

A No.  I don't remember any other specifics.  That, 

the pie lady one, just sticks out in my mind.  But 

other than that, I just -- you know, it would have 

been along the same lines of just someone being 

vulgar on there and we had not done our good job 

of sweeping it early enough and seeing that. 

Q Any times when he made a suggestion and you went 

back and you weren't sure whether it really met 

the criteria? 

A No.  The -- especially on that example, he was -- 

there was no doubt when I saw that one.  If I 

remember, the F word was used maybe a handful of 

times, two or three times on that post.  And so it 

was obviously one that had stood out and we had 
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just missed when we were going through it 

manually. 

Q So that one sort of fits the vulgarity bucket? 

A Uh-huh. 

Q Has he ever asked you to look at one or 

specifically to block somebody who fit the abusive 

bucket? 

A I don't remember an abusive one that he brought to 

our attention.  I remember the vulgarity one.  

And I believe there was one time when someone was 

spamming and he had noticed over the weekend that 

they were posting it time after time after time.  

And, again, it is just something that we had 

missed.  And I remember him directing us to that.  

But I don't remember specifically an abusive one 

that I had had a conversation with him about. 

Q So you remember one about in the -- I think you 

jumped ahead to my next question, which was -- 

A The next category?  

Q The next category.  

A Yeah.  I do, I do.  I don't recall what the 

specific spam was.  I just know that he had been 

reviewing over the weekend and had noticed there 

were a particular account that continued to post 

time after time and we had missed it.  I don't 
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remember if it was Facebook or Twitter.  But he 

just was helping to direct us to that. 

Q And when you say "spam," you had sort of put a 

couple of different items under the spam bucket --

A Sure. 

Q -- was this a solicitation for some sort of a 

commercial venture? 

A I don't remember.  I'm sorry.  That has been quite 

a while ago.  I don't remember if it was a 

commercial venture or if it was someone just 

copying and pasting over and over.  I don't 

remember which one of those it was. 

Q Okay.  Any other instances that you can recall 

where the Governor came to you with somebody that 

should possibly be blocked? 

A No.  It is a -- it is a -- it is a very infrequent 

thing.  So those two stand out to me.  But, no, I 

don't -- I don't recall other specifics of -- of 

ones that he would have asked about. 

Q And do you recall overhearing or seeing the 

Governor have similar interactions with others in 

the communications department? 

A Because of the positioning in my office, one or 

both of those, I am not sure which, but he likely 

would have walked through and mentioned that to 
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myself and to Amanda or maybe even Nicole there in 

our little Bermuda Triangle there.  And so in the 

context of that, probably yes, where there might 

have been more than one of us that heard it.  But 

I don't know that I just overheard -- I've ever 

overheard him talking to someone else about that.  

It was just letting us know that, hey, you all 

need to check this out, this is a problem.

Q Okay.  Let's go back to our discovery responses, 

which is Exhibit 5.  

A Okay.  

Q So if you turn to page five.  

A (Witness so complies). 

Q We asked you to identify all employees, interns, 

or other personnel involved in blocking.  

That list of 18, there is no one else that 

you are aware of that was involved in blocking 

individuals from the Governor's official Facebook 

page? 

A No.  That would cover everyone that I would 

possibly think would be on that list, yes. 

Q Okay.  There is one person that you have mentioned 

that I don't think is on that list.  Chase.  

A Chase Scott, our digital director?  

Q Yeah.  Would he have been involved in blocking? 
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block somebody? 

A No.  I don't recall him coming to chat with us 

about that.  Usually he will come down and bring 

either, you know, letters or we will send those 

his way.  Primarily we correspond that way and he 

will -- basically, is the front-facing office of 

handling constituent inquiries. 

Q Okay.  So in number -- let's see.  Let's talk 

about the Facebook page.  

What is your understanding of who is 

expected -- who you all expect are going to read 

the Facebook posts on the Governor's official 

Facebook page? 

A I would say the, what was it, 

eighty-some-odd-thousand that are subscribed, or 

that's the wrong word, I guess like the page or 

follow the page.  It would be people just 

interested, I assume, in having the communications 

of the Governor, being able to view those. 

Q Okay.  So does that include the news media? 

A Yes.  I believe we have -- I know on Twitter we do 

and I believe on Facebook we do have some media.  

Twitter might be a little higher presence of 

media members that follow that.  But I believe 

there are media also on Facebook. 
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Q And Kentucky citizens? 

A Yes, Kentucky citizens.  And -- and I know just 

from my experience on there we also have people 

outside of the state of Kentucky as well that 

follow. 

Q Voters? 

A Voters?  

Q (Moved head up and down). 

A I would assume.  I don't know the answer to that 

specifically.  But I do know a lot. 

Q But you expect voters are going to read the 

Facebook posts? 

A I hope so. 

Q Okay.  

A I hope so.

Q Conservatives?  

A I would love -- well, I would love for all 

Kentuckians.  Just as the deputy communications 

director, I would love for all four million folks 

to keep up with civics and what is going on up 

here in Frankfort.  I would love that. 

Q Conservatives? 

A We definitely have conservatives, liberals.  

I would say we have a pretty good mix on there, 

from my -- my viewing.
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Q Independents? 

A Definitely independents, yes. 

Q Republicans? 

A Republicans.

Q Democrats?

A Libertarians.  

Q Socialists?

A I'd say we probably have a little bit of everybody 

on there. 

Q And where does that, your understanding of that, 

sort of this broad view of who is expected -- who 

you expect to read the Facebook posts, where does 

that understanding come from? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form.  

But go ahead, if you understand the question. 

A No, no.  And I would ask if you could just -- I 

would be glad to try to answer your question if --

Q Sure.

A -- you clarify it. 

Q You know, we just talked about various different 

types of people who you expect are going to be 

reading these posts.  So my question is:  How did 

you come up with that understanding? 

MR. MEREDITH:  When you say that he 

expects, are you talking about his own 
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I know last week one of the ones I posted was 

for the Find Help Now for the opioid crisis.  

We're trying to let people know that if they're 

needing immediate assistance, they don't have to, 

you know, wait on-line, on a hotline, something 

like that, we can try and connect them with a 

facility.  Different public services, things like 

that, put that information out there so people can 

see it. 

Q Is it fair to say that another purpose is also to 

encourage dialogue among constituents over these 

issues? 

A What I would say about that, that's a good 

question, I would say that's not our primary 

purpose.  That is, obviously, a byproduct of that.  

And a certain amount of that definitely can be 

useful to us.  We can scan through and, you know, 

see, maybe, ideas, trends, things like that.  

But that's not our primary aim in having it.  

It is more to just let people know, hear his 

voice, if they want to, and to hear what his 

policy ideas are and kind of what his vision for 

Kentucky is, is our main idea. 

Q And so another -- as part of that, another 

byproduct of using Twitter, you also are able to 
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obtain feedback from constituents on certain 

topics -- 

A To a limited -- I'm sorry to interrupt. 

Q That's okay.  

A To a limited amount.  I will say, just because of 

the rapid-fire nature of our jobs and just as 

we've been discussing here, just the innovation of 

proliferation of posts, it's not something where 

we're able to just go through and, you know, just 

line by line see everyone's concern.  But, sure, 

definitely scrolling through I can get a flavor 

for what is a hot topic, what is something people 

like, don't like, that sort of thing in a general 

sense. 

Q And we talked about your understanding of who is 

expected to read tweets.  

I think it is the same broad group that we 

talked about with Facebook, news media, citizens.  

A Uh-huh.  Yeah.  We --

Q Yeah.  

A -- we absolutely invite anyone that wants to 

subscribe.  My understanding is, you know, there 

is a broad range, just from reviewing those.  

There are definitely folks that are supportive of 

what we're doing, there are folks on the other 
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side and everywhere in-between, honestly, quite 

frankly. 

Q And similarly to with Facebook, where does your 

understanding of who that intended audience is, 

where does that come from?  

A My only, I guess, specific thoughts on that would 

just be from hearing the Governor himself on 

different occasions on videos he made encouraging 

people to go on and follow those so they can see 

what's happening.  You know, for instance, for 

this shave or grow fundraiser he was doing for the 

foster kids, he would invite people to go to that 

page and vote and that sort of thing.  And it was 

a platform for him to be able to share that 

widely, rather than us, you know, say, putting out 

just a press release and relying on just, you 

know, a variety of media sources across the state 

to cover it.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Can we just take a 

quick break?  

MR. SHAPIRO:  Sure.  Absolutely.

(3:55 p.m. BREAK 4:24 p.m.)

(Exhibit 7 marked)

BY MR. SHAPIRO:  

Q Mr. Maglinger, I've given you what has been marked 
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A Yes. 

Q And he or she will see a few comments underneath? 

A Yes.  To the best of my recollection, you do see a 

couple of comments at least before they are 

truncated there. 

Q And so this exhibit that has multiple pages with 

multiple comments, a user would not see those 

immediately, they would first have to click 

"see more comments," correct? 

A Yes.  I believe that is the case. 

Q And with respect to those comments, are those 

comments written by the Governor or the 

Governor's staff? 

A The comments, no, sir.  Those would be -- appears 

to be from users, Facebook users, accounts who are 

interacting with our account. 

Q And how is somebody able to distinguish between 

the Governor's -- whether it is coming from the 

Governor versus whether it is coming from a user? 

A It would be, again, through that profile picture 

and name there.  So, for example, the Governor's 

face there beside "Governor Matt Bevin" as opposed 

to maybe "Sherri Matthews Stolle" there with her 

picture, that would differentiate who the user 

was.  
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Q And there is no approval process set up before a 

comment appears? 

A No, sir. 

Q So anybody can post a comment and it immediately 

shows up --

A Yes. 

Q -- after posting that comment? 

A Yes.  I believe that is the case. 

Q Okay.  And the individual user decides what the 

content is that's included in his or her comment? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And, for example, there's 138 comments.  If you 

look on the first page it indicates there are 138 

comments; is that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q And the Governor's ability to make another post is 

not impacted by whether there's 138 comments or 

100,000 comments; is that correct? 

A Correct. 

Q You are not aware of any limitation on the number 

of comments that can be put on the Governor's 

official Facebook page before he can no longer 

access it?  

A I have no knowledge of any limit that there is. 

Q Okay.  Let's put that away.  
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picture associated with the text of the tweet, 

correct? 

A Correct. 

Q And we know for the reply that there is a user 

image and a user name associated with each of 

the -- the text of each reply, correct? 

A That is correct. 

Q And the user is able to understand exactly who the 

author of the text is? 

A Yes. 

Q Okay.  And, in fact, it even says it is replying 

to Governor Matt Bevin? 

A Yes. 

Q Does the Governor's staff or the Governor ever 

reply to comments within a reply? 

A Not regularly.  I don't recall myself ever doing 

that.  I don't believe that is a regular practice, 

that we do reply back, as a standard -- in a 

standard day.  I don't think we do that. 

Q But there are times when someone does? 

A I believe I would probably have to defer to my 

colleagues, if they had done that.  But I have not 

personally ever replied back to anyone. 

Q But are you aware of times that you have seen when 

someone on the staff or the Governor himself has 
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replied to a reply? 

A Yes.  I have seen that on very rather occasion. 

Q Okay.  As with Twitter -- as with Facebook -- 

strike that.  

There's no prior approval required for 

someone to post a reply on Twitter, correct? 

A Correct. 

Q And it shows up instantaneously, correct? 

A Yes.  Correct. 

Q And the user is the one who decides the content of 

their reply? 

A Yes.  That is correct.  

Q And with this one, it doesn't -- there are 13 

re-tweets or 13 replies; is that correct? 

A Yes.  Thirteen replies it shows. 

Q And are you aware of any limitations if there are 

a large number of replies? 

A I am not aware of any limitation. 

Q Okay.  And whether there is 100 replies or 1,000 

replies or 5 replies, the Governor still is able 

to post on -- or you all or the Governor are still 

able to post on the Governor's official Twitter 

page? 

A Yes.  That is my understanding. 

Q Okay.  Earlier you said that you sometimes will 
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it in context for this deposition, did you?  

THE WITNESS:  No, not for the 

deposition.  This was before the -- I was 

aware of a deposition. 

MR. SHAPIRO:  But you looked at -- 

all right.

BY MR. SHAPIRO:

Q Okay.  So if you were looking at this post that 

doesn't necessarily have a discernible topic and 

you are looking for repeated off-topic comments, 

is there a threshold number that you consider to 

be a threshold? 

A No.  I don't have just a magic number on that.  

I don't.  It -- it usually becomes pretty readily 

apparent when that's someone's intent and it is 

pretty easy to see. 

Q Was it more than two? 

A Yes.  

Q More than three? 

A I would say once you -- once there are multiples, 

once you get to three, that's where -- that's 

where I would start looking at spam, particularly 

on one single one, yes. 

Q Okay.  So less than three would be acceptable? 

A Unless it was a persistent thing on going forward 
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from different posts, you know, that were 

continued on.  But if you are talking in the 

context of one, one or two, at least I could speak 

for myself specifically, I would not block that. 

Q So others may have a different numerical 

threshold? 

A I would say you would have to ask that question of 

them.  I don't know. 

Q But you are not aware that it is a consistent 

number for everybody? 

A The threshold that we kind of always just talked 

about is that general statement we talked about 

earlier with the continuous off-topic and 

persistent. 

Q Let's talk about the process for reinstating 

someone's account.  What is your understanding of 

that process? 

A We have, at least I know in one instance in my 

experience, had a gentleman who contacted us.  

I believe the initial inquiry came in through 

constituent services, Mr. Park I mentioned 

earlier, had either I guess sent an e-mail or a 

letter just asking to be unlocked.  And so I made 

contact with that individual and e-mailed him and 

let him know that if he was willing to abide by 
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the standard of what we were asking, that we would 

be happy to unblock him with the understanding 

that if he were to break those rules again that he 

would be blocked.  And he did reply back and agree 

to those rules.  And so I went through the process 

of unblocking him.  And to my knowledge, he's 

still an active participant on our page. 

Q And who created the policy of what you need to do 

to be unblocked? 

A We put out a statement to the media whenever this 

case came -- came to light and news outlets were 

requesting comment from us.  And, so, we worked on 

a statement to put out.  And I used that general 

language to reply back to the gentleman, just let 

him know essentially what we're talking about, 

those three things were what we blocked for and 

that was the reason he had been blocked, but that 

if he was willing not to participate in those 

activities anymore we would be happy to unblock 

him. 

Q So prior to the initial news media reports about 

this, was there any policy in terms of getting 

unblocked from either Twitter or Facebook? 

A I don't know of a written policy.  We definitely, 

like I say, since my time with the Governor's 
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1        A       I understand that, yeah. 

2        Q       Fair enough, thank you.  Okay, Mr. 

3 Morgan, what is your educational background?  

4        A       Some college.  

5        Q       Okay.  

6        A       I did a semester at University of 

7 Kentucky in the mid '90s, a couple semesters at 

8 Jefferson Community Technical College.  

9        Q       And where did you go to high school?  

10        A       Ballard High School here in Louisville.  

11        Q       And what did you study at UK?  

12        A       Business management.  

13        Q       Okay.  And did you get any degree from 

14 the community college?  

15        A       I did not.  

16        Q       And what did you study there?  

17        A       Business management also.  

18        Q       Where do you live now?  

19        A       In Jeffersontown.  Louisville.  East 

20 end.

21        Q       In Jefferson County?  

22        A       Jeffersontown, yeah.  

23        Q       And Mr. Morgan, what is your occupation?  

24        A       I am a patient care assistant and unit 

25 coordinator at Norton Children's Medical Center.  
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1 you have to information that you are going to look at 

2 mixed in with a whole bunch of information that is 

3 completely irrelevant to you? 

4                MR. SHAPIRO:  Objection.  Lack of 

5 foundation.  Calls for speculation.  

6        A       I don't know.  All these 

7 hypotheticals -- I don't know what happens in the 

8 Governor's office in the IT department or whoever's in 

9 charge of Twitter.  

10        Q       Mr. Morgan, how has being blocked harmed 

11 you?  

12        A       I can't engage with the Governor.  I 

13 can't see his posts unless I log out of my Twitter 

14 account.  Even if I log out, I can't reply to his posts 

15 once logged out.  Currently I cannot see nor reply to 

16 them if I'm logged into my Twitter account.  I can't 

17 engage with my Governor as his constituent.  

18        Q       Well, that's not true, though, 

19 literally, is it? 

20        A       On Twitter it is true.  

21        Q       You can write letters to the Governor's 

22 office, right?  

23        A       I can.  

24        Q       You can call the Governor's office, 

25 right?  
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1        A       I was not.  

2        Q       Then why didn't you take any steps to 

3 get unblocked?  

4        A       I didn't know how at the time.  

5        Q       So are you telling me that you thought 

6 that filing a lawsuit would be easier than anything 

7 else you could do to get unblocked?  

8                MR. SHAPIRO:  Objection.  Asked and 

9 answered.  

10        A       Nothing is easier than one thing or the 

11 other.  I don't understand your question here.  If 

12 you're trying to get to the fact that I'm looking for 

13 attention or something, that's not the case.  

14        Q       Why did you file the lawsuit?  

15        A       Because my First Amendment was blocked 

16 by Governor Bevin.  He's done it to multiple people in 

17 this state.  

18        Q       When did you get blocked?  

19        A       February 8th, 2017.  

20        Q       When was the lawsuit filed?  

21        A       Was it July of 2017?  June, July of 

22 2017.  

23        Q       So how many months is that from 

24 February?  

25        A       What, five?  
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              UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
              EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
              CENTRAL DIVISION AT FRANKFORT
                  No. 3:17-CV-60-GFVT

______________________________________________________

          DEPOSITION OF MARY DEANA SHARP HARGIS
______________________________________________________

DREW MORGAN and MARY HARGIS                PLAINTIFFS

v.

MATT G. BEVIN, in his official capacity    DEFENDANT
as Governor of Kentucky
______________________________________________________

          The deposition of MARY DEANA SHARP HARGIS was

taken on behalf of the defendant before Rebecca Fella,

Registered Professional Reporter and Notary Public in

and for the Commonwealth of Kentucky at Large, at the

office of Ransdell, Roach & Royse, PLLC, 176 Pasadena

Drive, Building I, Lexington, Kentucky, on Thursday,

November 1, 2018, beginning at the hour of 1:00 p.m.

The deposition was taken by notice and shall be used for

any and all purposes allowed by the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure, including use at trial.

______________________________________________________

                 ACTION COURT REPORTERS
                   116 Mechanic Street
                Lexington, Kentucky 40507
                     (859) 252-4004
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859-252-4004
Action Court Reporters

1 Morehead?

2        A.     I've been in Morehead since 1975, when I

3 got married.

4        Q.     Okay.  And what do you do for a living,

5 Ms. Hargis?

6        A.     I'm a retired Kentucky State employee.

7        Q.     And how long did you work for the State?

8        A.     Twenty-seven years.

9        Q.     And when did you retire?

10        A.     2008, May 31st.

11        Q.     Okay.  And what did you do for the State?

12        A.     I was a clerical support person for the

13 Commission for Children With Special Health Care Needs,

14 part of the Cabinet for Health and Family Services.

15        Q.     And did you work in an office in Morehead

16 or did you drive to Frankfort --

17        A.     No --

18        Q.     -- every day?

19        A.     -- in Morehead.

20        Q.     Okay.

21        A.     The home office was in Louisville.

22        Q.     So you said you worked 27 years, so does

23 that mean then that you started working there in 1981?

24 Is that --

25        A.     I worked previously at the health
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1 representation.

2                   You cannot -- you cannot make an

3 unsolicited email privileged.

4                   MR. SHAPIRO:  I am objecting to the

5 extent that email is --

6        Q.     Ms. Hargis, what did the email say?

7        A.     Just that --

8                   MR. SHAPIRO:  You can answer the

9 question.

10                   THE WITNESS:  Huh?

11                   MR. SHAPIRO:  You can answer that

12 question.

13        A.     It was that I was on a list of blocked

14 people from the governor's page and that would I be

15 interested in trying to be able to become involved.

16        Q.     Prior to that point, had you -- had you

17 contemplated filing a lawsuit?

18        A.     I didn't know I was blocked until a couple

19 of days prior to that.

20        Q.     So you weren't -- you didn't even know you

21 were blocked until you got that email?

22        A.     No, I knew -- I didn't understand that I

23 was blocked.  I only knew that I could share.  So I -- I

24 wasn't aware of what that meant at that time, but then

25 when I found out I was actually blocked, then I
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1 understood that was why I could only share.

2        Q.     And how did you find out you were blocked?

3        A.     Through the ACLU.

4        Q.     Was it that email or another communication?

5               When I say that email, I mean the email

6 from Ms. Gatnarek on the 24th.

7        A.     Through --

8        Q.     Through that --

9        A.     -- that email.

10        Q.     Okay.  So that was the first time you

11 understood that you were blocked?

12        A.     That I actually understood that I was

13 blocked, yes.

14        Q.     Okay.

15        A.     I didn't understand the process prior to

16 that because I'd never been blocked from anything, and

17 so when all I could do was share, I was -- I didn't

18 understand why.

19               But there's no way to question that on

20 Facebook when you see that unless you know or are aware

21 of what that means, and I didn't -- I was unaware of

22 what that meant.

23        Q.     Did you respond to Ms. Gatnarek's email?

24                   MR. SHAPIRO:  I'm going to object to

25 the -- you can answer that question.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY
CENTRAL DIVISION AT FRANKFORT

CASE NO. 17-CV-00060  

DREW MORGAN AND MARY HARGIS 

v.

MATT G. BEVIN, IN HIS OFFICIAL 
CAPACITY AS GOVERNOR OF KENTUCKY 

 PLAINTIFFS

DEFENDANT

*              *              *
 

          The 30(b)(6) deposition of JAMES BLAKE 

BRICKMAN as taken pursuant to notice by the 

plaintiff on October, 25, 2018, at the Kentucky 

State Capitol Building, Room 107, 700 Capital 

Avenue, Frankfort, Kentucky.

DANNIELLE COPELAND, RDR, CRR 
McLendon-Kogut Reporting Service, LLC

Anchorage Office Plaza 
2525 Nelson Miller Parkway, Suite 204

Louisville, Kentucky  40223
(502) 585-5634 

www.mclendon-kogut.com 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 1 of 140 - Page ID#:
 856



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

2

I N D E X

EXAMINATION: PAGE

BY MS. GATNAREK 4
BY MR. MEREDITH 121
BY MS. GATNAREK 131
BY MR. MEREDITH 138

APPEARANCES 3

CERTIFICATE 140

E X H I B I T S

DEPOSITION EXHIBIT 28  6
DEPOSITION EXHIBIT 29 19
DEPOSITION EXHIBIT 30 111

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 2 of 140 - Page ID#:
 857



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

3

APPEARANCES

FOR PLAINTIFFS:
MS. HEATHER L. GATNAREK, ESQ.  
ACLU OF KENTUCKY FOUNDATION, INC.  
315 GUTHRIE STREET, SUITE 300 
LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY  40202
(502) 581-9746
HEATHER@ACLU-KY.ORG  

FOR PLAINTIFFS:
MS. CASEY HINKLE, ESQ.
KAPLAN JOHNSON ABATE & BIRD, LLP
710 WEST MAIN STREET, 4TH FLOOR
LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY  40202
(502) 416-1636
CHINKLE@KAPLANJOHNSONLAW.COM
  

FOR DEFENDANT: 
MR. S. CHAD MEREDITH, ESQ.
MR. MATTHEW F. KUHN, ESQ.  
OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR
700 CAPITAL AVENUE, SUITE 101 
FRANKFORT, KENTUCKY  40601
(502) 564-2611
CHAD.MEREDITH@KY.GOV
MATT.KUHN@KY.GOV  

  *              *              *
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4

JAMES BLAKE BRICKMAN, called by the 

Plaintiff, having been first duly sworn, testified 

as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MS. GATNAREK:

     (Proceedings Commenced at 8:08 a.m.)  

Q. Could you introduce yourself for the record, 

please? 

A. James Blake Brickman. 

Q. And your last name is spelled as it sounds? 

A. "Brick" "man." 

Q. Great.  Have you ever been deposed or 

testified before, Mr. Brickman? 

A. No. 

Q. This is the first time? 

A. First time. 

Q. Great.  Are you here with counsel today? 

A. I am. 

Q. And is that Mr. Meredith and Mr. Kuhn -- 

A. Yes. 

Q. -- sitting to your right? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Excellent.  Let me just go over a few basics 
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of the deposition, and then we can get started.  

      First of all, we have a court reporter here 

today, who is making a transcript.  So we need 

affirmative answers to questions, a yes or a no as 

opposed to a head shake or a head nod.  

      If any question that I ask you is unclear or 

if you don't understand what I mean, please let me 

know or ask me to clarify.  I'm very happy to do 

that, and it's probably because I have not asked the 

question correctly or appropriately.  

Because we have a court reporter who's making 

a record, it's important that we not talk over each 

other, we let each other finish before the other one 

speaks.  Otherwise, that garbles the record.  

      If you need to speak with your attorneys, you 

are free to do so.  I just ask that you answer the 

question that is pending first, before requesting 

time to speak with your attorneys.  So don't leave a 

question pending.  

And the same is true with breaks.  If you 

ever need a break, please let us know.  We can do 

that.  Just please don't leave a question pending 

before the break.  

And is there any reason that you cannot 

answer -- or cannot testify truthfully today, any 
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medications or anything that -- 

A. No. 

Q. -- would impact that?  Okay.  

And, Mr. Brickman, you are here today as the 

governor's 30(b)(6) designee; is that correct? 

A. Yes.

Q. So you're here to give official testimony on 

behalf of the office of the governor; is that 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Because you haven't testified as -- in a 

deposition before, I take it that you have not 

testified as a corporate designee before; is that 

correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Okay.  I will mark as Exhibit -- I think 

we're on 28, we've done these consecutively -- a 

document that we will mark as Exhibit 28. 

(EXHIBIT 28 WAS MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)  

Q. And I'll hand this to you to take a look at 

and ask if you've seen this document before? 

A. I have. 

Q. And this is the notice of your deposition 

here today; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And then you'll see, starting on page 2, 

there are a list of topics, and they go from page 2 

onto page 3.  

Do you see those? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Great.  Mr. Brickman, when did you become 

aware that you would be representing the governor as 

the corporate designee in this case? 

A. Last week. 

Q. Okay.  And how much time did you spend 

preparing for this deposition today? 

A. Three hours, at least. 

Q. What did you do to prepare?  

      And I'm not asking for -- well, what did you 

do to prepare? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the extent it 

calls for disclosure of attorney-client 

communications. 

A. I reviewed this document. 

Q. Did you review any other documents? 

A. I reviewed the answer to the complaint. 

Q. Anything else? 

A. I reviewed the response to interrogatories. 

Q. Do you know if those were the defendant's 

responses to interrogatories, or the plaintiffs'? 
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A. They were the defendant's responses. 

Q. Did you review anything else? 

A. No. 

Q. And who did you speak to in order to prepare 

for today's deposition? 

A. I spoke with the governor. 

Q. Okay.  For how long did you speak to the 

governor? 

A. 30 minutes. 

Q. Anyone else? 

A. And I talked to our attorneys, but -- 

Q. Anyone else? 

A. I spoke with our communications director. 

Q. And who is that? 

A. Elizabeth Kuhn. 

Q. How long did you speak to Ms. Kuhn for? 

A. When?  I speak to Ms. Kuhn daily. 

Q. In preparation for this deposition.  

A. I'm not sure I talked to her about the 

deposition.  I mean, I speak to Ms. Kuhn in my 

regular role daily, multiple times a day. 

Q. Have you spoken to her about this deposition 

every day since you learned you'd be the designee? 

A. No. 

Q. So how many days have you spoken to her about 
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this deposition? 

A. I haven't spoken to her directly about the 

deposition. 

Q. Have you spoken to her about the topics 

identified in the notice of deposition? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When? 

A. Yesterday. 

Q. For how long? 

A. At least 30 minutes. 

Q. In addition to the governor, counsel, and 

Ms. Kuhn, have you spoken to anybody else in 

preparation for today's deposition? 

A. No. 

Q. Let's take a look at that document, what 

we've now marked as Exhibit 28.  

      And I will, as a preliminary matter, show you 

what we've marked previously as Exhibit -- 

Deposition Exhibits 2 and 3.  

MS. GATNAREK:  Do you-all need copies of 

these again?  

MR. MEREDITH:  Yeah, if you don't mind.  

Thank you.  

MS. GATNAREK:  You're welcome. 

Q. Mr. Brickman, you understand that this case 
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regards the governor's official social media pages? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So when we discuss the governor's official 

social media pages, I want to make sure that we're 

all talking about the same thing.  

Deposition Exhibit Number 2, can you just 

identify this document for us, if you're able? 

A. It looks like a screenshot of the governor's 

official Twitter page. 

Q. And how do you know it's the governor's 

official Twitter page? 

A. It's the @GovMattBevin Twitter handle.  

Q. Okay.  Because the governor also has a 

personal Twitter page; is that correct? 

A. It is. 

Q. And I just want to be clear, that's not what 

this is; this is his official -- 

A. This is the official Twitter account. 

Q. Great.  If you could take a look at the 

Exhibit 3 underneath it and identify it for us, if 

you're able? 

A. This looks like the governor's official 

Facebook page. 

Q. And again, how do you know that's the 

governor's official Facebook page? 
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A. It's the @GovMattBevin Facebook page. 

Q. Does he also have a personal Facebook page?

A. He does. 

Q. So today as we're discussing the official 

Facebook and Twitter pages, I will be referring to 

these accounts, and I just want to make sure that 

you're in agreement that that's what we mean by 

official Facebook and Twitter page. 

Do you agree? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Excellent.  When were the governor's official 

Facebook and Twitter accounts created? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask anybody when they were created? 

A. My understanding is they were created before 

he became governor. 

Q. Where does that understanding come from? 

A. Because the @GovMattBevin Twitter handle on 

the very page you handed me says it was created in 

April of 2015.  He was not governor until December 

of 2015. 

Q. Okay.  So you don't know who, in April of 

2015, created the governor's official Facebook page? 
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A. No, I don't. 

Q. And do you know who would know who created 

this page? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you ask Ms. Kuhn if she knows who created 

that page? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you ask the governor who created the 

page? 

A. He didn't know. 

Q. So you did ask him? 

A. I did. 

Q. And he didn't know who created that? 

A. (Witness shook head.) 

Q. Did you ask anyone else besides the governor 

or Ms. Kuhn -- 

A. No. 

Q. -- who created the page? 

A. Again, it was created in April of 2015, 

before I ever worked for the governor when he was -- 

before he was governor. 

Q. I understand.  But you are here as the 

30(b)(6) designee to answer questions on behalf of 

the governor's office, correct? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the extent you're 
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asking him to testify about things that happened 

before the inauguration and, therefore, were not 

official state business. 

Q. Do you know who was involved in the decision 

to create these pages? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know who would know that? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you ask the governor? 

A. No.  He didn't know.  I mean, I didn't -- he 

created -- these were created before we ever became 

employees of the governor's office.  So I have no 

idea who created them. 

Q. So you did ask the governor if he knew who 

was involved in creating them? 

A. He had no recollection of creating these. 

Q. How long have you worked for the governor? 

A. Since day one of the administration. 

Q. Do you have access to these official accounts 

yourself? 

A. No. 

Q. Who was working for the governor at the time 

this Facebook page was created that may know -- that 

may be able to answer questions about it? 

A. I don't know. 
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Q. Did you work for the governor's campaign? 

A. No. 

Q. You don't know anyone else who worked for the 

governor's campaign? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form.  

Objection to the extent you're asking him to testify 

about things beyond the scope of the 30(b)(6) 

deposition. 

Q. Do you know who worked for the governor 

during the campaign, when this page was created? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objection, because none 

of that pertains to official government business. 

A. I did not work on the campaign. 

Q. I understand that.  

      Do you know who did in April of 2015? 

A. No. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objection.  That's all 

beyond the scope of the 30(b)(6) deposition. 

Q. Do you know if the governor's official 

Facebook and Twitter pages have been active 

continuously since they were created? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objection. 

Q. Do you know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 
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A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask the governor? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objection. 

A. What is your question?  

Q. Did you ask the governor if the official 

Facebook and the official Twitter pages have been 

active continuously since they were created? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  That's all beyond 

the scope of anything that's happened since the time 

the governor was inaugurated, which is the only 

scope of the 30(b)(6) deposition here. 

Q. You can answer.  

A. No. 

Q. No, you didn't ask him if he knew who had --

A. Can you ask the question again?  

Q. Did you ask the governor if he knows whether 

the official Facebook and the official Twitter pages 

have been active continuously since they were 

created? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objection. 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know who is now responsible for those 

accounts? 

A. I do. 

Q. Who? 
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A. For which account?  

Q. Let's start with the Facebook.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  When you say 

"responsible," what do you mean?  

Q. Who is responsible for it?  

      Who's in charge of it? 

A. What do you mean "responsible"?  

Q. Is there one person who has ultimate 

authority over the governor's Facebook page, 

official Facebook page? 

A. The communications director's in charge of 

all communications in the governor's office. 

Q. And that would be Ms. Kuhn; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  Do you know if anybody else monitors 

the governor's official Facebook page? 

A. What do you mean by "monitor"?  

Q. I mean has access to it as either an 

administrator or a moderator? 

A. What is an administrator?  

Q. Do you know who has access to post on the 

governor's official Facebook page? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who? 

A. Currently?  
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Q. Yes.  

A. And you're asking about Facebook?  

Q. Yes, I am.  

A. Who can post content?  

Q. Yes.  

A. That's a current employee?  

Q. Yes.  

A. Nicole Burton, Elizabeth Kuhn, Woody 

Maglinger, John Zurowski. 

Q. Anybody else? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay.  May I ask what it is that you're 

referring to? 

A. A sheet of people in our office that have 

access to the governor's Facebook account. 

Q. Did you create that document? 

A. Yes. 

MS. GATNAREK:  May we have a copy of what the 

witness is referring to?  

MR. MEREDITH:  Sure.  You can see it. 

MS. GATNAREK:  Thank you.  

Q. When did you create this document, 

Mr. Brickman? 

A. Yesterday. 

Q. Can you tell me how you created it? 
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A. When you say I -- I did not create the 

document. 

Q. Okay.  Who did? 

A. The document was created and given to me. 

Q. Do you know who created it? 

A. I don't.  I think counsel did. 

MR. MEREDITH:  I don't think that's -- I 

don't think that's correct, no.  

A. Did Ms. -- maybe Ms. Kuhn -- I think Ms. Kuhn 

created this for me. 

Q. Is Ms. Kuhn the one who gave it to you? 

MR. KUHN:  I'll represent that Ms. Burton 

created the document. 

Q. Did you ask her to create a document like 

this? 

A. I did. 

Q. What did you ask her in particular? 

A. Well, one of the questions you asked was who 

had access to this.  So I asked to create a document 

of who had access to it so I could answer your 

questions. 

Q. And do you know how she created it, created 

this document? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  You're asking him 

literally, like, what kind of word processer she 
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used or whether she was using her own personal 

knowledge, or what?  

Q. I mean more whether she was referring to her 

own personal knowledge or something else, where she 

gathered -- how she gathered this information.  

A. I can't tell you definitively how she 

gathered the information. 

Q. Would she know if I ask her that question? 

A. I can't answer what somebody else would or 

wouldn't know.  I assume that any type of social 

media platform has an administrator that can show 

who has access to do this. 

Q. Is it your understanding that Ms. Burton is 

an administrator like that? 

A. Ms. Burton has access to our official Twitter 

and our official Facebook pages.

Q. And she has access that you do not; is that 

correct? 

A. I don't have any access. 

MS. GATNAREK:  We will mark this as 

Exhibit -- I think we're on 29.

(EXHIBIT 29 WAS MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.)  

MS. GATNAREK:  And I'm sure we'll refer back 

to it. 

Q. Do you know how people within the governor's 
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office are added to the Facebook page as 

administrators? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you -- who would know that? 

A. Ms. Kuhn. 

Q. Do you know who makes the decision who will 

be added to the governor's official Facebook and 

Twitter page? 

A. The communications director is responsible 

for all the governor's communications. 

Q. I understand.  

A. So she would make that decision. 

Q. Do you know how she decides? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know who had access to the governor's 

official social media accounts on day one of the 

administration, when you started? 

A. No.  I mean, you're asking me do I know 

who -- everyone that had access on day one?  The 

answer is no. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. On day one?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. Jessica Ditto was here on day one.  I don't 

know if she would know or not, but she was here on 
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day one. 

Q. Okay.  Do you know if the governor knows who 

had access on day one? 

A. I don't.  I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask him that question? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know if he had access on day one? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask him that question? 

A. No. 

Q. You were previously referring to document -- 

what we've now marked as Exhibit 29, you were 

previously explaining who had access to post on the 

governor's official Facebook page.  I would like to 

ask you the same question with regard to Twitter. 

Who in the governor's office currently has 

access to post on the governor's Twitter page? 

A. Nicole Burton, Elizabeth Kuhn, Woody 

Maglinger, John Zurowski, Governor Bevin. 

Q. And I suppose just so that the record is 

clear, the document that we're looking at that 

Ms. Burton created for you, which we've marked as 

Exhibit 29, has what looks like a key up at the top 

with 1, 2, and 3; is that correct? 

A. I don't know what a key is. 
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Q. Well, up at the top of this document there 

are the numbers 1, 2, and 3.  

      Do you see those? 

A. I do. 

Q. And next to number 1 it says, "Equals post 

content"; is that correct? 

A. Yep. 

Q. Next to number 2 it says, "Equals block or 

ban based upon policy."  

      Do you see that?  

A. I do. 

Q. And then number 3, next to it says, "Delete 

or hide off-topic or inappropriate Facebook 

comments."  

      Do you see that? 

A. I do. 

Q. Can you explain to me what those numbers mean 

on this document? 

A. What what numbers mean?  

Q. What the numbers 1, 2, and 3 up at the top 

mean on this document.  

A. Well, there's names on the document with 

numbers next to each name.  And whoever has access 

to do 1, 2, or 3 is listed as having access to do 1, 

2, or 3. 
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Q. So in that way these numbers are a key 

because we can look at a person's name and see, for 

instance, Nicole Burton, next to her name is a 1, 2, 

3, that means she has access to do all of those 

listed up at the top; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  Can you flip to the second page of 

that document, please, and just explain to me what 

the -- what that means?  

      It says at the top, "Current Twitter access" 

with a list of names, and halfway down it says 

"Current Facebook access" with a list of names.  

      Can you explain what that means? 

A. Are you talking about Twitter or Facebook?  

Q. Well, let's start with Twitter.  

      What does that mean, "Current Twitter access"? 

A. These are the current employees in the 

governor's office that can do either 1, 2, or 3 in 

what you describe as a key. 

Q. I'm confused because on the first page, under 

Twitter, there is a longer list of names, many of 

whom have numbers next to them, and they don't all 

seem to be listed under current Twitter access on 

the back.  

So for instance -- well, can you explain to 
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me why that might be, if you know? 

A. There are people -- what is your question?  

Q. Why are there more people listed on the first 

page under Twitter, with numbers next to their 

names, than there are on the back under "Current 

Twitter access"? 

A. Some of these people no longer work for the 

governor. 

Q. Okay.  And does that hold true for "Current 

Facebook access" on the back there, as well? 

A. I don't understand your question. 

Q. You see there's a list of names under 

"Current Facebook access" on page 2 -- or I'm sorry.  

They're not numbered.  On the reverse side. 

Do you see that list of names on the reverse 

side of this document? 

A. Which names?  

Q. Under "Current Facebook access."  

A. I see the names. 

Q. Right.  And then on the front of the -- the 

front page of this document, there are more names 

listed under Facebook with numbers next to them, and 

it looks like there are more names listed on the 

front, and I was wondering if you could explain the 

difference there as well.  
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A. Some of these people no longer work in the 

governor's office. 

Q. Okay.  What is the governor's office official 

policy about who can post on his official social 

media accounts? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Are you asking who 

has access or -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  No.  

Q. I'm asking:  What is the policy of the 

governor's office as to who can post on his account? 

A. I'm not sure there is a policy. 

Q. Well, not everybody in the governor's office 

can post on his accounts; is that correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. So I'm wondering what the policy is to 

determine who gets that access.  

A. The communications director makes that 

determination. 

Q. Do you know how she makes that determination? 

A. I don't. 

Q. Do you know who would know? 

A. She would. 

Q. Did you ask her that in preparation for 

today's deposition? 

A. Did I ask her what?  
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Q. What the governor's office official policy is 

regarding who posts on his official social media 

pages.  

A. There is not an office policy.  She makes 

that determination. 

Q. She is the communications director of the 

governor's office, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. So if she has a policy or practice, that 

would be the policy or practice of the governor's 

office; is that correct? 

A. I don't understand your question. 

Q. Let me rephrase.  

She makes that decision in her official 

capacity as the governor's communications director, 

right? 

A. Makes what decision?  

Q. Who has access to post on the social media 

accounts.  

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you ask her what that policy or practice 

is? 

A. No. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object.  Are you asking 

whether there's some written-down policy beyond what 
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her discretion -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  I'm asking what's pretty 

clearly marked as topic number 3 in our notice of 

30(b)(6) deposition here.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Are you asking if there's 

something beyond her own discretion?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Yes.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Okay.  

A. No. 

Q. And do you understand what her -- how her 

discretion works or what she takes into account to 

make those decisions? 

A. I don't understand your question.  I mean, 

there's not a written policy. 

Q. I understand there's not a written policy.  I 

do believe that there would be a practice, though; 

is that correct?  

      She does make decisions about who gets access? 

A. The communications director makes decisions 

about who gets access. 

Q. Right.  What kinds of things does she take 

into consideration in deciding whether someone gets 

access? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask her? 
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A. No. 

Q. Who oversees posts that are made to the 

governor's official social media accounts? 

A. What do you mean by "oversee"?  

Q. Is there someone who is in charge of 

deciding -- of making the ultimate decision what is 

posted to these accounts? 

A. The communications director.

Q. What is the official policy or practice by 

which those decisions are made? 

A. What decisions?  

Q. What gets posted to the governor's official 

social media accounts? 

A. It's up to the discretion of the 

communications director. 

Q. Do you know how that discretion works or what 

considerations she takes into account? 

A. I don't. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. She would. 

Q. And did you ask her about that? 

A. About what?  

Q. About how she oversees or makes ultimate 

decisions about what gets posted to the official 

accounts? 
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A. No. 

Q. Do you know if -- strike that.  

Since the governor has been in office, have 

there been any changes made to the internal policy 

or practice regarding who has access to post on the 

official social media accounts? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question. 

A. Was that a question?  

Q. Yes, I think so.  

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back, 

please?  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question to the extent it lacks foundation and 

assumes that there is some policy or practice other 

than what he's already testified to. 

MS. GATNAREK:  He is the 30(b)(6) designee, 

so I don't know that the lack of foundation is 

applicable here. 

Q. But please answer.  

A. I still don't understand the question.  I 

mean, there was like three questions in there.  What 

was your question?

Q. There was one question.
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MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back, 

please?  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question again, because I think it assumes that 

there is a policy, and I think he's testified that 

there is not a policy.  It's just at the discretion 

of the communications director.

A. The communications director has always had 

the discretion over who posts. 

Q. Ms. Kuhn hasn't always been communications 

director during the governor's administration; is 

that correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Who filled that role prior to Ms. Kuhn? 

A. Amanda Stamper. 

Q. And who filled it prior to Amanda Stamper? 

A. Jessica Ditto. 

Q. And did anyone fill that role prior to 

Jessica Ditto? 

A. Catherine Easley was also involved in 

communications.

Q. How was she involved in communications? 

A. She was the communications director for a 

short period of time. 
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Q. Do you know when that period of time was? 

A. I don't recall, exactly. 

Q. Do you recall if it was prior to Ms. Ditto? 

A. I'm trying to remember the timeline of -- 

we've had people come and go, and I can't remember 

the exact timeline of Catherine and Jessica, when 

they overlapped. 

Q. Okay.  Besides Ms. Stamper, Ms. Ditto, and 

Ms. Easley, has anyone else filled the role of 

communications director in Governor Bevin's 

administration? 

A. No.  I'm not sure Jessica Ditto was ever 

communications director.  I think she may have been 

press secretary.  That's right. 

Q. Did your counsel just clarify for you the 

role? 

A. Yeah.  I forgot, sorry.  We've had -- 

Q. That's quite all right.  

So is it true that Jessica Ditto was 

communications director, or was -- did she have a 

different role? 

A. No, she was communications director.  I'm 

sorry. 

Q. That's all right.  Thank you.  

Now, that gives us four people who have 
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served as communications director at some point? 

A. Catherine Easley was never communications 

director.  She was deputy chief of staff for 

external affairs.  I'm going to correct that.

Q. Deputy chief of staff for external affairs; 

is that right? 

A. I think that was her title.  I'm not 100 

percent positive, but I think that was her title. 

Q. Did she ever have discretion over what posts 

are posted to the governor's official social media 

pages? 

A. No.  I think that was the communications 

director that always had that position. 

Q. Okay.  So those would be Jessica Ditto, 

Amanda Stamper, and Elizabeth Kuhn; is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Is there anybody else that we're missing in 

that list? 

A. No.  Sorry, just to make sure I understand 

your question, that have been communications 

director?  Is that your question?  

Q. Yes.  Although, if anybody has filled a role 

within the governor's office similar to 

communications director but without that title, I 

would like to know that too.  
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A. The only three communications directors that 

the governor has had were Jessica Ditto, Amanda 

Stamper, and Elizabeth Kuhn. 

Q. So let me just ask one clarifying question, 

then.  

Has anybody else besides those three 

individuals ever had discretion over what posts are 

made to the governor's official social media pages? 

A. No. 

Q. So when I was asking you before if any 

changes had been made to the governor's office 

practice over what posts are made to his official 

social media accounts, I think we got a little bit 

confused talking about that question.  

I'm curious if there has ever been a change 

in practice -- so this doesn't have to be a 

written-down policy.  

Has there ever been a change in practice 

within the governor's office as to who has ultimate 

discretion over what posts are made to the official 

social media accounts? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form. 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Again, you're asking about -- there's not a 
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written policy.  The practice is the communications 

director is responsible for the content on the 

official Facebook and Twitter accounts, and that's 

always been the case. 

Q. When you say "always been the case," do you 

mean since day one of the administration? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is there a written job description for 

communications director? 

A. No. 

Q. We've talked about individuals who have 

access to post content on the governor's official 

social media pages.  

What is the governor's office policy or 

practice regarding who has access to monitor the 

governor's official social media pages? 

A. Discretion of the communications director. 

Q. So it is up to the communications director at 

the time to decide which governor's employees will 

have access to monitor the official social media 

accounts? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know what kinds of considerations go 

into making that decision? 

A. No. 
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Q. Who would know? 

A. She would. 

Q. When you say "she," who do you mean? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. Which is currently Elizabeth Kuhn? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you ask Ms. Kuhn, in preparation for 

today's deposition, the policy or practice by which 

someone would get access to monitor? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know -- I'm sorry.  Strike that.  

When an employee of the governor's office is 

given access to monitor the official social media 

pages, what training do they receive in how to do 

that? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. Did you ask her about training in preparation 

for today's deposition? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay.  Do you know if there have been any 

changes to the governor's office policy or practice 

regarding who has access to monitor the official 

social media accounts? 
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MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form of the 

question because it assumes that there is a policy 

beyond the communications director's discretion. 

A. It's the discretion of the communications 

director. 

Q. And it has always been the discretion of the 

communications director? 

A. What has?  

Q. Making the decisions about who has access to 

monitor the official social media accounts.  

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know if there is any -- the 

communications director has changed over time, we've 

established that, correct? 

A. The person in the role of the communications 

director?  

Q. Yes.  

A. Has changed. 

Q. Do you know if there's any guidance as to the 

policy or practice that we're referring to here 

regarding who has access to monitor the official 

social media pages, do you know if there's any 

guidance given to the communications directors as 

those individuals change roles? 

A. I don't understand your question. 
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Q. So when one communications director leaves 

and another comes in, is there any guidance given to 

the incoming communications director regarding 

making a decision about who has access to monitor 

the governor's social media accounts? 

A. The only guidance is it's up to the 

discretion of the communications director to make 

that decision. 

Q. Is there any written policy about that? 

A. No. 

Q. Are there any emails exchanged regarding 

that? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you look for any emails regarding that --

A. Regarding what?  

Q. -- in preparation for today's deposition?  

Regarding the discretion of the 

communications director to decide who has access to 

monitor the official social media pages? 

A. What is your question?  

Q. Did you look for any emails regarding the 

discretion that the communications director has to 

determine who has access to monitor the governor's 

social media pages? 

A. Did I?  
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Q. Uh-huh.  

A. No. 

Q. Do you know if anybody did? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Did you ask anybody to? 

A. No. 

Q. What is the governor's office policy about 

when a user is blocked from the defendant's official 

social media accounts? 

A. Which account?  

Q. Let's talk about Facebook first.  Facebook.  

A. What is your question?  

Q. What is the governor's office policy about 

when a user is blocked from the defendant's official 

Facebook account? 

A. A person may be blocked from the official 

Facebook account if they post obscene content, 

abusive content, or they are repeatedly off topic. 

Q. Is that the official policy of the governor's 

office? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How was that policy created? 

A. I don't know.  How was it created?  

Q. Who was the first person to come up with the 

idea that individuals who post obscene content 
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should be blocked from the defendant's official 

Facebook page? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Would the governor know? 

A. Would he know what?  

Q. Who developed the policy that we're referring 

to here.  

A. I don't know.  I don't think so. 

Q. Would Ms. Ditto know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. You can't think of anyone else in the 

governor's office who would know the answer to that 

question? 

A. The answer to what question?  

Q. Who developed that policy.  

A. Who developed the policy?  We stated what the 

policy was very clearly in July of 2017. 

Q. And the governor had been governor for over a 

year and a half prior to that; is that correct? 

A. Prior to when?  

Q. July of 2017.  

A. He's been governor since December of 2015. 

Q. Yes.  So was that policy created prior to 
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July 2017? 

A. That's always been the way the governor's 

office has treated this issue.  If you post abuse -- 

I mean, obscene, abusive, or repeatedly off-topic 

comments, you will be blocked. 

Q. The governor's official social media pages 

are managed by human beings, though, correct?  

They don't manage themselves? 

A. Is that a question?  

Q. Yes.  They don't manage themselves, do they? 

A. Are you asking me if a page manages itself?  

Q. Yes.  

A. I don't even know what that means.  

Q. So do you agree that humans monitor -- I'm 

sorry.  

Do you agree that humans manage the 

governor's official social media pages? 

A. If you're asking me if human beings manage 

the accounts, yes.  There are human beings that are 

involved in these Facebook pages and Twitter pages. 

Q. And that has been the case since they were 

created; is that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  So which of those humans was the first 

to decide that individuals who post obscene, 
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abusive, or repeated off-topic comments should be 

blocked from the defendant's official Facebook page? 

A. I don't know who the first person to do it 

was.  I mean, the communications director has always 

done this.  That's the way the governor's office has 

always operated.  

      If you post obscene, abusive, or repeatedly 

off-topic comments, you will be blocked. 

Q. But you don't know who developed that policy? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, asked and answered. 

A. That's always been the policy. 

Q. Since day one of the administration? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. And you don't know -- so you've said that you 

don't know who created that policy.  

Do you know who would know? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you know who would know who would know the 

answer to that question? 

A. Is that a question?  

Q. Yes.  

A. Do I know who would know?  

      It's always been the policy, since day one of 

the administration. 

Q. But it was a policy developed by a person, 
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some person, correct?  

      And I want to know who that person is.  

A. I mean, you're asking -- you're asking about 

something that happened three years ago. 

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. And what is your question?  

      I mean, that's always been the policy. 

Q. I understand it's always been the policy.  

      I wonder who the person was that created it.  

A. I don't know. 

Q. And I'm asking if you can tell me any 

information about who would know -- 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection. 

Q. -- or who would know who would know.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, asked and answered. 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Okay.  How does the governor's office define 

what is an obscene comment -- oh, I'm sorry.  Strike 

that, and let me ask another question.  

You identified what would get a user blocked 

from the defendant's official Facebook account, and 

that is if someone posts an obscene, abusive, or 

repeated off-topic comment; is that correct? 

A. Yes.

Q. What is the governor's official policy about 
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what gets a user blocked from the governor's 

official Twitter account? 

A. It's the same policy. 

Q. So when we talk about this policy and when we 

talk about definitions of the words, is it going to 

be the same definition of the word obscene for both 

Facebook and Twitter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Will it be the same definition of abusive for 

both Facebook and Twitter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And will it be the same definition of 

repeated off-topic comments for both Facebook and 

Twitter? 

A. Yes.

Q. So as we discuss those three -- obscene, 

abusive, and repeated off topic -- I won't 

necessarily refer to Facebook or Twitter, unless you 

think it's necessary for some question.  

      Is that -- can we agree on that?  

A. Yep. 

Q. I think that will save some time.  

But let me ask if you know who created that 

policy, that obscene, abusive, or repeated off-topic 

comments will get you blocked from the defendant's 
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Twitter account.  

Do you know who created that policy? 

A. That's always been the policy, since day one. 

Q. And do you know who the person was on day one 

who developed that policy for Governor Bevin's 

Twitter? 

A. Jessica Ditto was the communications director 

on day one. 

Q. Do you know if she developed that policy? 

A. I don't.  It's always been the policy, since 

day one.  That's all I know. 

Q. And Ms. Ditto was not one of the individuals 

you spoke to in preparation for today's deposition; 

is that correct? 

A. I have not talked to Ms. Ditto about this. 

Q. Okay.  Let's go back to the question I 

previously asked, which was:  What is the governor's 

office definition of the word obscene as it relates 

to a comment that will get you blocked from his 

social media accounts? 

A. You're asking me to define obscenity?  

Q. Yes.  

A. I don't know how to define obscenity.  You 

know it when you see it. 

Q. What are the governor's employees told to 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 44 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 899



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

45

look for when they are looking to see if a comment 

is obscene on the governor's official social media 

accounts? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Communications director, she may know. 

Q. So does the governor's office have an 

official policy about what kinds of comments are 

obscene? 

A. A written policy?  

Q. Or unwritten.  Let's start with written.  

      Does the governor's office -- 

A. No. 

Q. -- have a written policy as to what kinds of 

comments are obscene? 

A. No. 

Q. Does the governor's office have an unwritten 

policy as to what kinds of comments are obscene? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question. 

A. You're asking -- obscene is what it is.  It's 

obscene.  That's the policy. 

Q. And how are employees in the governor's 

office who are monitoring the social media accounts 

trained in what to look for? 
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A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Communications director. 

Q. Did you ask her, in preparation for today's 

deposition, about that? 

A. Did I ask her what?  

Q. What kinds of comments are considered 

obscene.  

A. No. 

Q. Who decides -- who within the governor's 

office decides whether a comment is obscene? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. Did you ask her about that in preparation for 

today's deposition? 

A. Did I ask her about what?  

Q. Who decides whether a comment is obscene.  

A. No.  But this -- we've already been over who 

can -- I mean, who has access to these accounts. 

Q. Okay.  How is that related to this question, 

who decides whether a comment is obscene? 

A. You would have to ask the communications 

director. 

Q. So does the governor's office have an 
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official policy about who decides whether a comment 

is obscene? 

A. I think you've asked me that like three 

times.  No. 

Q. I previously asked you if the governor's 

office had an official policy about the definition 

of obscene, but this is specifically with regard to 

who within the governor office decides whether a 

comment is obscene.  

So given that framework, does the governor's 

office have an official policy about who decides 

whether a comment is obscene? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, form of the 

question.  

A. I didn't even understand the question. 

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back, 

please?  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form of the 

question.  I mean, I think that he's testified that 

the communications director gives people access to 

and enables them to enforce the policy of blocking 

obscene comments, but I'm not -- I think he's 

already answered that question, but I'm not sure 

what you're asking -- 
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MS. GATNAREK:  I don't know that we do have 

an answer to it.  

Q. I mean, who decides whether a comment on the 

governor's official social media accounts is 

obscene? 

A. I don't. 

Q. Who does? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Are you asking who does the 

blocking or -- I'm not sure -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  Well, I mean, that's next.  

That's next. 

Q. Before a person is blocked for having written 

an obscene comment, there first has to be an obscene 

comment, I think.  

       And my question is:  Who decides whether that 

comment is obscene? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And I think I previously asked you who would 

know, and you said Elizabeth Kuhn; is that correct? 

A. I said the communications director. 

Q. You said the communications director.  Yeah.  

A. Who is currently Elizabeth Kuhn. 

Q. That's correct.  I'm sorry.  

And that's not a question that you asked her 

in preparation for today's deposition; is that 
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correct? 

A. Again, when you start asking all these 

questions at the same time, I can't follow which 

ones you're talking about. 

Q. Okay.  So I certainly don't mean to put any 

words in your mouth.  

Did you ask Ms. Kuhn, in preparation for 

today's deposition, who decides whether a comment is 

obscene? 

A. No. 

Q. Is there a review process before an 

individual is blocked for having made an obscene 

comment? 

A. I don't know. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, form of the 

question.  What you mean "review process"?  What 

exactly are you talking about?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Any kind of review or approval 

process. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Do you mean other than the 

person who blocked them looking at it?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Well, I'm not sure that we've 

established that that even happens.  

Q. But is there a review or approval process 

about whether a comment is obscene before an 
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individual is blocked? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. And did you ask her in preparation for 

today's deposition? 

A. Did I ask her what?  

Q. If there is a review or approval process 

about whether a comment is obscene? 

A. No. 

Q. So is there any kind of policy within the 

governor's office regarding a review or approval 

process about whether a comment is obscene? 

A. A written policy?  

Q. Let's start with written.  

Is there a written policy? 

A. No. 

Q. Is there an unwritten policy? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question. 

A. I don't know. 

Q. You don't know if the governor's office has 

an official policy about whether there's a review or 

approval process about whether a comment is obscene? 

A. You would have to ask the communications 
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director.  I don't know. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question.  I don't understand what you mean by 

"review or approval process." 

Q. I understand that you don't know and that I 

would have to ask the communications director, but 

you are here as a corporate designee on behalf of 

the governor's office.  

      So I'm asking if there is a governor's office 

policy about this, and you're saying you don't know; 

is that correct? 

A. Is that a question?  

Q. Yes.  

A. What is your question?  

Q. You are here as the corporate designee for 

the governor's office, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. In that role, I am asking you if there is an 

official policy or practice within the governor's 

office regarding a review or approval process about 

whether a comment is obscene.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Again, object to the form of 

the question.  I don't think -- I don't think 

anybody understands what you mean by "review or 

approval process."  
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Q. How is an individual blocked from the 

governor's official Facebook page? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form of the 

question.  Are you talking about how -- like, 

literally how are they blocked?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Yes, literally. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Like what button do you press 

on the screen?  

Q. Literally, yeah, how is someone blocked? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Do you know who would know? 

A. Communications director. 

Q. Does the communications director have to 

approve every time that someone within the 

governor's office wants to block an individual? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. Did you ask her about that before today's 

deposition? 

A. Did I ask her about what?  

Q. Whether she -- or I'm sorry.  

      Whether the communications director has to 

approve any time an employee in the governor's 

office wants to block an individual.  
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A. Did I ask her that?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. No. 

Q. Are there ever disagreements within the 

governor's office about whether a comment is 

obscene? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. If there were ever a disagreement within the 

governor's office about whether a comment was 

obscene, how would it be resolved -- or I'm sorry, 

how would it be addressed? 

A. The communications director is in charge of 

communications.  You would have to ask her. 

Q. How does the governor's office let Facebook 

users know what kinds of comments would be obscene 

on the governor's Facebook page? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question. 

A. What was the question?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back, 

please?  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Communications director. 
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Q. Is she the only person? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. So does the governor's office have a policy 

or practice by which they let people know on 

Facebook what kinds of comments would be obscene? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And you are here on behalf of the governor's 

office, representing the governor's office? 

A. How many times did you ask me that question?  

Q. I just want to confirm that you're answering 

for the governor's office when you say that you 

don't know whether the governor's office has a 

policy --

A. The communications director would know the 

answer to that question. 

Q. Okay.  And is a user blocked from Facebook or 

Twitter after one obscene comment? 

A. They could be. 

Q. What would determine that? 

A. Whether the comment was obscene. 

Q. You said that they could be blocked after one 

comment.  

      So I'm wondering:  Are there situations where 

one obscene comment won't get you blocked? 

A. One obscene comment can get you blocked. 
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Q. Does it always? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. What is your question?  

Q. Who would know whether one obscene comment 

always gets a user blocked?

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form the 

question.  Are you asking if there are circumstances 

where a person makes two or three obscene comments 

before they get blocked, or what -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  I asked if one obscene comment 

always gets you blocked, and I think the answer was 

it can. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the use of the word 

"always" because -- well, I think he's answered. 

Q. Are there situations where a user would not 

be blocked after one obscene comment? 

A. No.  But you asked me if they always get 

blocked.  That means that someone may have made an 

obscene comment that no one saw, and maybe they 

didn't get blocked.  

Q. Okay.  But does -- 

A. One obscene can get you blocked.  

MS. GATNAREK:  Okay.  Could we take a break?  

MR. MEREDITH:  Yeah. 
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      (A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.) 

Q. What is the governor's office's definition of 

abusive in the context of this policy we've been 

discussing? 

A. Abusive?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. People that make threats, physical threats.  

People that make comments about someone's race or 

ethnicity or sexual orientation or anything that's 

like that. 

Q. Anything else? 

A. That's pretty broad.  I mean, it's abusive. 

Q. Is that a written policy? 

A. No. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question.  Go ahead.  

      Do you mean written other than the written 

statement that's -- that you've already been 

provided in interrogatories?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Well, sure.  

Q. Mr. Brickman, I will hand you what's 

previously been marked as Deposition Exhibit 5.  

Have you seen this document before? 

A. Yep. 

Q. Is this one of the documents you reviewed in 
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preparation for today's deposition? 

A. Yes. 

Q. I'll ask that you turn to page 5 of that 

document, and interrogatory number 5. 

Do you see that at the bottom there, near the 

bottom? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. In this interrogatory, I'll represent to you 

we asked for "Any policy, written or otherwise, 

promulgated by or followed by your office governing 

individual users' activity on Governor Bevin's 

official Facebook page and how that policy was 

relayed to Facebook users."  

And you'll see in the response there, "In 

July of 2017, the governor's office issued the 

following official statement."  

Do you see that? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Okay.  I believe earlier this morning you 

testified about the governor's office having made a 

statement -- a public statement about the policy for 

comments on his official Facebook and Twitter pages.  

      Is this that statement that you were referring 

to? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Okay.  And just to clarify, if you flip to 

page 6, interrogatory number 6, you'll see there 

we've asked for the same policy as it regards to 

Twitter.  The response was "See response to 

Interrogatory number 5 above."  

So is this July 2017 policy the same policy 

for Twitter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  In that policy, at the top of page 6, 

on line 2, second line down, you'll see, "Posting 

obscene and abusive language or images." 

Do you see that? 

A. I do. 

Q. That policy doesn't include a definition for 

what abusive is, correct? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form.  

A. Does it define abusive?  

Q. Right.  

A. No. 

Q. Okay.  So when I asked you just a moment -- 

A. Doesn't define obscene, either. 

Q. Right.  Exactly.  We've been over what the 

governor's office's definition of obscene is, I 

believe.  And I am now asking you about the 

governor's office's definition of the word abusive.  
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      And you said -- and I'm paraphrasing here, I 

think, so correct me if any of this is incorrect.

      You said threats, physical threats, comments 

about race, sexual orientation, and things like 

that.  

A. Ethnicity. 

Q. Ethnicity.  

A. Gender.  I mean, anything that could be 

viewed as abusive. 

Q. Okay.  Is that policy -- I'm sorry.  

Is that definition of abusive written down 

anywhere? 

A. No -- well, anywhere?  On here, no, it's not 

written down. 

Q. So it's not in this July 2017 statement, 

correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Within the governor's office, is that a 

written policy? 

A. No. 

Q. How are governor's office employees trained 

in knowing what the definition of abusive is as it 

relates to comments on social media pages? 

A. You would have to ask the communications 

director that.  I do think most people have a pretty 
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good understanding of what obscene or abusive is.  

      Obscene is foul language, pornography.  I 

mean, people know what obscene is, just like they 

know what abusive is. 

Q. And so how do people within the governor's 

office know what they are, though?  Strike that.  

How do people within the governor's office 

know what kinds of comments are deemed abusive? 

A. I think abusive is an objective term.  People 

know what an abusive statement is.  It's objective. 

Q. Does the governor's office have any kind of 

written or unwritten policy about that? 

A. There's no written policy. 

Q. So how, then, are employees trained in what 

kinds of comments are abusive? 

A. You would have to ask the communications 

director about any training.  

      But again, obscenity and abusive are objective 

terms that people generally understand what they 

are. 

Q. How do you know that those are objective 

terms? 

A. I'm telling you they're objective terms.  

That's how I know they are. 

Q. And how do you know that all the -- how do 
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you know if all of the employees in the governor's 

office have the same understanding of what kinds of 

comments are abusive? 

A. Because it's an objective term.  Both of them 

are.  Obscene and abusive are objective terms. 

Q. Is there ever any disagreement within the 

governor's office about whether a comment is 

abusive? 

A. There could be. 

Q. What happens then? 

A. My understanding is if there's a disagreement 

about whether a term is abuse -- obscene or abusive, 

that the communications director would resolve that 

dispute.  

      But again, my understanding is, for the vast 

majority of these, it's objectively known what 

comments are obscene or abusive. 

Q. But if there are ever any disagreements about 

whether a comment is abusive, doesn't that, by 

definition, mean it's not necessarily objective? 

A. Not necessarily. 

Q. Are you aware of any specific instances where 

employees within the governor's office have 

disagreed about whether a comment is abusive? 

A. No. 
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Q. And how do visitors to the governor's 

official social media pages know what kinds of 

comments would be considered abusive? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question.  Object to the extent you're asking him to 

speculate about what other people know or don't 

know. 

Q. You can answer.  

A. What's your question?  

Q. How do visitors to the governor's official 

social media pages know what kinds of comments would 

be considered abusive? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Same objections. 

A. I don't know.  You're asking me how someone 

else would know something.  I don't know. 

Q. Does the governor's office tell people what 

kinds of comments would be considered abusive on his 

official social media pages? 

A. My understanding is if someone has been 

blocked, they can contact the governor's office to 

understand our policy.  And if they do something 

that's obscene or abusive and they agree to abide by 

our policy, they can be unblocked.  That would be 

the only way that people could know, is by 

contacting our office. 
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Q. And that would happen after they've already 

been blocked, correct? 

A. What would happen?  

Q. You were talking about someone contacting the 

governor's office asking to be unblocked.  

      So that communication would only happen after 

somebody has been blocked; is that correct? 

A. I don't understand your question. 

Q. When I was asking you about how visitors to 

the governor's official social media pages know what 

kinds of comments would be considered abusive, your 

response to me was, well, if someone's been blocked, 

they can contact us to be unblocked and agree to 

abide by our rules; is that fair? 

A. What do you mean by "fair"?  

Q. Did I just summarize that exchange fairly? 

A. What's your question?  

Q. Well, my question to you is -- you mentioned 

a practice by which someone could contact the 

governor's office and ask to be unblocked.  

My question to you is:  That only happens 

after somebody has been blocked, correct? 

A. Someone would only contact the governor's 

office to be unblocked if they have been blocked.  

If that's your question, the answer is yes. 
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Q. Yes.  Exactly.  Thank you.  

So how does somebody -- unless or until 

somebody is blocked for having made an abusive 

comment, how is someone supposed to know what kinds 

of comments are considered abusive on the governor's 

official social media pages? 

A. Well, since day one, the policy has always 

been you can be blocked for obscene, abusive, or 

repeatedly off-topic remarks.  We've publicly put 

that out.  So I can't tell you what someone may or 

may not know out on the Internet. 

Q. You publicly put that out in July of 2017, 

right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So did someone know -- how would someone have 

known before July of 2017 what that policy was? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And is a user blocked after -- strike that.  

Would one obscene -- could one obscene 

comment, just one, get a user blocked? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What is the governor's office's definition of 

what constitutes spam on his official social media 

accounts? 

A. Spam is the same thing as repeatedly 
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off-topic comments. 

Q. What is the governor's office's definition of 

repeated off-topic comments? 

A. More than one comment -- are you talking 

about Facebook or Twitter?  

Q. Well, we can talk about them separately.  But 

before we do that, let me just clarify that earlier 

I asked you if the policy was the same on both, and 

you said that it was.  

So is there a difference in how repeated 

off-topic comments -- is there a different 

definition for repeated off-topic comments on 

Facebook than there is for Twitter? 

A. No. 

Q. So if I ask you the question:  What is the 

governor's office's official definition of repeated 

off topic, the answer is going to be the same for 

Facebook and Twitter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  So what is the governor's office -- 

A. They're just platforms.  They have 

different -- they operate differently. 

Q. That's true.  So what is the governor's 

office's official definition of repeated off-topic 

comments? 
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A. More than one comment that has nothing to do 

with the original Facebook post for Facebook or 

tweet for Twitter.  

      Generally, it's two or three or more comments 

that are totally unrelated to the original Facebook 

post or tweet. 

Q. When you referred to generally two or three 

or more comments, do you mean within one Facebook or 

Twitter post? 

A. Not necessarily. 

Q. Who decides what comments are off topic on a 

particular post? 

A. The person with access -- 

Q. When you say -- 

A. -- to block.  

Q. I'm sorry.  

A. The person with access to block. 

Q. And we know who those are because they've 

been identified on Exhibit 29; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know if each individual identified on 

this list as having access to block people on the 

governor's social media accounts has the discretion 

to determine if a comment is off topic his- or 

herself? 
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MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Do you mean sole 

discretion, or what -- 

Q. Yes.  Discretion.  

A. Yeah.  These people can block people. 

Q. And each of these individuals identified can 

decide themselves whether someone gets blocked for 

repeated off-topic comments; is that correct? 

A. Yes.  But it's ultimately they all report to 

the communications director who's responsible for 

this. 

Q. Before one of these identified individuals 

blocks somebody for repeated off-topic comments, do 

they need to get approval from anybody else? 

A. My understanding is they do not.  

      One point of clarification:  When I was 

looking on this sheet, the people on this sheet 

where the key would be would be people that have 

actually done those three things, not that have the 

access to do those three things, if that makes 

sense. 

Q. It does.  

A. So for example -- this is one example on John 

Hodgson, if he has a 3 next to his name, that would 

mean that he's never done 1 or 2.  He's only done 3. 

Q. I see.  Thank you for that.  
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A. If that makes sense.  I didn't clarify that 

earlier.

Q. No.  Thank you.  That's helpful.  

      So using Mr. Hodgson as an example, he has a 3 

next to him, so we know that he has deleted or 

hidden, hid, off-topic or inappropriate Facebook 

comments and he has -- and are you saying that he 

has not posted content or blocked or banned based on 

the policy? 

A. I am. 

Q. But that he has access to if he were told to 

do so? 

A. Again, my understanding on how this works is 

you have access to do all three things if you're 

given access, but that doesn't actually mean you've 

done all three things.  

      You've only -- the way this sheet is broken 

down is with the numbers next to these people's 

names, they've only actually done either 1, 2, or 3 

as laid out on this sheet. 

Q. Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.  

A. You can see that I've done none. 

Q. I do see that.  

      Do you have access to do any of them? 

A. No. 
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Q. Given that clarification, does that change 

any of your answers here this morning? 

A. I don't think so. 

Q. And I know we've talked about a lot, so --

A. I mean, I don't think it does.  I just wanted 

to clarify that. 

Q. Thank you.  Are there any communications 

within the governor's office about specific 

instances where there was a question regarding 

whether something was off topic? 

A. Define communication. 

Q. Written communication on mediums such as 

email, text message, Facebook Messenger, Twitter 

Direct Message.  

A. So what is your question?  

Q. Are there any written communications among 

employees in the governor's office about specific 

instances where there was a question about whether a 

comment was off topic? 

A. I'm not aware of any. 

Q. Do you know -- or have -- I'm sorry.  

Have you searched for them? 

A. Have I personally?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. No. 
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Q. Do you know if a search was undertaken for 

them? 

A. I don't know. 

MR. MEREDITH:  I'll object to the extent that 

I don't think that's anywhere on the topics -- list 

of topics here. 

Q. Does the governor's office have a policy 

about whether there are specific words that are 

always off topic? 

A. My understanding is that on Facebook, for 

example, there can be filters that you put in that 

automatically hide certain comments based on certain 

words; for example, curse words.  

      If someone types a curse word in, Facebook has 

some type of ability to hide that comment.  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. Does that answer your question?  

Q. Well, it leads me to another question.  

But let me just clarify that if the Facebook 

filter filters out curse words, that would be -- 

those would be obscene words; is that correct?  

      So today we've been talking about abusive, 

obscene, and repeated off-topic comments, is that 

correct, and curse words would fall under obscene; 

is that right? 
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A. Curse words would be obscene.  They could 

also be abusive, depending on the context. 

Q. Sure.  That's true.  But I'm wondering if 

those curse words are considered off topic.

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question.  Do you mean categorically or -- 

Q. I mean within the governor's office as we're 

discussing this policy, are curse -- there's 

specific curse words that are considered off topic? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Do you mean 

categorically or based on the context?  

MS. GATNAREK:  I'm going to let the witness 

answer the question however he understands it. 

A. There could be a comment that is obscene, 

abusive, and repeatedly off topic all in the same 

comment.  It happens all the time, if you follow 

social media. 

Q. Okay.  

A. They're not mutually exclusive, necessarily. 

Q. Sure.  I definitely understand that that 

could be the case.  

A. It happens all the time. 

Q. Are there, though, words that the governor's 

office has identified as being always off topic, 

specific words? 
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A. I can't answer that question.  Depends on -- 

there's so many variables that go into what is an 

off-topic comment that there's not one topic that 

would always be considered off topic, necessarily, 

if that's what you're asking me.  I mean, depends on 

the context of the original post, what's on topic 

and what's off topic. 

Q. So do you know if the governor's office 

employs that Facebook keyword filter to filter out 

off-topic comments? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Object to the form of the 

question, and asked and answered as well.  

      But go ahead and answer to the extent --

A. What's your question?

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back?

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

A. I don't know.  Again, off topic is not 

defined by words.  It's defined by what the topic 

is. 

Q. Do you know if the governor's office uses the 

Facebook keyword filter on the governor's official 

Facebook page? 

A. My understanding is we do. 

Q. And are you aware of what words are included 

in that filter? 
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A. No. 

Q. Is that something that you reviewed in 

preparation for today's deposition? 

A. Did I review what?  

Q. The key words that are used that the 

governor's office filters out on Facebook? 

A. I did not review those. 

Q. And just to be clear, do you know if there is 

an analogous tool available on Twitter? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Do you know if the Facebook keyword -- strike 

that.  

Do you know if the governor's office employs 

the Facebook keyword filter to filter out anything 

besides curse words or foul language? 

A. I don't know what words are in the governor's 

Facebook filter; therefore, I can't answer your 

question. 

Q. Do you know who would know? 

A. Communications director. 

Q. Okay.  A little while ago, when we started 

this conversation about off-topic comments, you 

referred to these as repeated off-topic comments, 

and we started to get into a discussion about the 

number of comments that are needed in order to be 
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considered repeated.  And I want to, just to make 

sure that I understand -- that I understand you on 

this.  

Does the governor's office look for off-topic 

comments that are repeated within the comments or 

replies to a singular post? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, asked and answered. 

A. I don't understand your question. 

Q. So the governor's office, both on Facebook 

and Twitter, makes posts on behalf of Governor 

Bevin.  We've been talking about posting 

content, and I will refer to these as posts.  

Do you understand what I mean by that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  Within -- or on a post on both 

Facebook and Twitter, there's a mechanism by which 

other users can post their own comments.  

Are you with me so far?  

A. (Witness nodded head.) 

Q. And on Twitter, these are called comments -- 

I mean on Facebook, these are called comments; on 

Twitter these are called replies.  For this 

conversation, I will refer to them all as comments.  

       Is that -- can you agree to that, or do you 

want me to -- 
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A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.

A. In the interest of time, yes. 

Q. Okay.  Great.  

So within a singular post on either the 

Facebook or Twitter page, there are comments from 

users who are not the governor; is that correct? 

A. There can be. 

Q. I mean, I suppose technically the governor 

could also post a comment or reply.  But again, in 

the interest of time, let's talk about those 

comments that are posted by users who aren't 

Governor Bevin.  

And my question to you is:  Does the 

governor's office, in looking for repeated off-topic 

comments, look for comments that are repeated within 

the body of a singular post -- or within the 

comments of a singular post?  I'm sorry.  

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Do you mean only 

look for it within that or -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  No.  I don't mean only. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Okay. 

Q. I mean does the governor's office look for 

comments that are repeated within the comments 

section of a singular post? 
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A. Yes, but that's not exclusive. 

Q. I understand.  Let's just stick with this for 

a second, though.  Okay?  

Within that singular post and within the 

comments section of that singular post, how many 

times must a comment be repeated before it is deemed 

to be in violation of the policy against repeated 

off-topic comments? 

A. Well, the definition of repeat assumes 

there's at least two, right?  

      So my understanding is it's generally two or 

three or more.  It has to be at least two to repeat. 

Q. At least two to repeat.  Yep.  

A. So to have a repeated off-topic comment, 

that's more than one. 

Q. Right.  So two or more of the same comment 

posted in a singular post will get -- could get 

somebody blocked? 

A. It could. 

Q. Okay.  Now, when I introduced this singular 

post, you said that's not the only thing the 

governor's office looks for.  

What else do they look for? 

A. On what?  

Q. With regard to monitoring for repeated 
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off-topic comments.  

A. The whole universe of that person's comments. 

Q. What do you mean by that? 

A. We don't just look at one post.  A lot of 

people put repeated off-topic comments on many 

different posts.  They try to hijack the social 

media page. 

Q. How does the governor's office keep track of 

a specific user's comments across multiple posts? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does it matter whether or not that user's 

comments across multiple posts are exactly the same? 

A. What do you mean by "the same"?  

Q. We've heard testimony from other witnesses 

about comments being cut and pasted, so exactly the 

same words in exactly the same order.  

When the governor's office is monitoring for 

repeated off-topic comments across multiple posts, 

does it matter whether those repeated off-topic 

comments are exactly the same? 

A. No. 

Q. Okay.  So what does the governor's office 

look for across multiple posts in determining 

whether somebody has repeated -- has posted repeated 

off-topic comments? 
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A. Whether the topics are on comment or not -- 

on topic or not. 

Q. So the posts -- so if a person -- if a user, 

not Governor Bevin, posts a comment on one of 

Governor Bevin's posts that the governor's office 

believes is off topic and then that same user goes 

to another of Governor Bevin's posts and posts a 

completely different comment but one that the 

governor's office also believes is off topic, do 

those two comments -- could those two comments get 

that person blocked? 

A. They could.  Again, they're off topic and 

it's repeated.  That means there's more than one. 

Q. You mentioned that part of the understanding 

of what "repeated off-topic comments" means is that 

users are trying to hijack the governor's post.  

What did you mean by the word "hijack"? 

A. Hijack means something that's totally off 

topic, trying to change the subject away from the 

intent of the original post to try to, again, take 

over the conversation about something that was not 

the intent of the original post. 

Q. And how do you know if a user who's not 

Governor Bevin who's posting these comments is 

trying to do that? 
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A. They're off topic. 

Q. How do those -- how do users on Governor 

Bevin's social media pages know what the topic of a 

post is? 

A. I assume they can read. 

Q. Is the topic of Governor Bevin's posts always 

clear? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Clear to whom?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Well, I think we're talking 

about what was referred to as an objective standard.  

Q. I mean, how does someone who visits the 

governor's page know what the topic is? 

A. They read it. 

Q. They read what? 

A. The post. 

Q. And in reading the post, they know what the 

topic is? 

A. You're asking me to put myself in the minds 

of however many people can read the governor's post 

to say what they think it is. 

Q. I think that's an important exercise here 

because we're talking about what kinds of comments 

will get individuals blocked from governor's pages, 

and we're discussing repeated off-topic comments. 

So yes, I am asking you how a user or how a 
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visitor to the governor's page would know whether 

their comment was off topic.  

A. They would read the topic of the post. 

Q. So I'll hand you as an example what we've 

previously marked as Deposition Exhibit Number 8, 

and just ask if you -- well, this is a post from 

Governor Matt Bevin's official Twitter account.  

Do you see that -- his Twitter handle up at 

the top there? 

A. I do. 

Q. Okay.  And do you see that on September 30th 

he posted, "As the sun sets on another weekend, we 

are thankful for our beautiful Kentucky home.  

#weareKentucky."  

      Do you see that? 

A. I do. 

Q. And then there's a photo that is hard to see, 

exactly, because this is a black-and-white copy, but 

I will submit to you it's a photo of a sunset, what 

looks to be a sunset, in Kentucky, with the words on 

top of it, "Kentucky.  No place I would rather be," 

with a small Kentucky state outline there.  

Do you see that? 

A. I do. 

Q. So how does a user or a visitor to Governor 
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Matt Bevin's official Twitter page know what the 

topic is of this post? 

A. They would read it. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  This is beyond the 

scope of the 30(b)(6) topics, but go ahead. 

A. They would read it. 

Q. So what is the topic of this post? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, again.  Same 

objection. 

A. The topic of this post?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. Governor Bevin loves Kentucky, and that's 

what the post is about. 

Q. So the only comments that would be considered 

on topic are comments about how Governor Bevin loves 

Kentucky? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Same objection. 

A. Or other people that love Kentucky could 

comment about that.  That's what the -- that's what 

the post is about. 

Q. It would have to be about loving Kentucky? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Same objection. 

A. No, it wouldn't. 

Q. Okay.  So what -- I believe that's what you 

said -- 
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A. It could be about being thankful for being in 

Kentucky.  It could be about whatever the topic of 

the post is about. 

Q. So I asked you:  What is the topic of the 

post? 

A. I just told you. 

Q. Okay.  When I previously asked you, "What's 

the topic of this post," you said "Governor Matt 

Bevin loves Kentucky."  

A. Yeah.  That's one of the topics.

Q. Okay.  What are some other topics of this 

post? 

A. He's thankful. 

Q. Anything else? 

A. There's a lot of things.  I mean, it's got 

the weekend, sun setting on the weekend.  That's 

what the post is about. 

Q. Anything else? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  Again, this is 

beyond the scope of the 30(b)(6) topics. 

A. No. 

Q. So is it the governor's -- I mean, let me 

rephrase that.  I want to make sure not to put words 

in your mouth, so I want to be clear.  

Is it the governor's office's position that a 
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visitor to his official social media accounts can 

know what the topic of the post is just by reading 

the post? 

A. I don't understand the question. 

Q. Previously, I asked you, "How does a visitor 

to the governor's official social media accounts 

know the topic of a post."  

      And I believe you responded, "They can read 

it."  

A. I did say that.  And they can read it. 

Q. Is there any other way that a visitor to his 

official social media pages would know the topic? 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Does anyone else have knowledge to answer 

that question in any other way? 

A. What's your question?  

Q. Well, I said to you -- or you responded to me 

that that's -- not to your knowledge, there's no 

other way to know the topic of the post other than 

reading it, not to your knowledge, is what you said.  

And my question is:  Does anyone else have 

knowledge to answer that question differently? 

A. I don't know.  I mean, people know what's 

going -- what the post is about by reading it.  I 

don't know how to be any more clear about -- about 
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it. 

Q. Okay.  But I'm not sure that you've answered 

that last question, which was -- I asked you if 

there was any other way that a visitor to the page 

would know the topic of a post besides reading it, 

and your response was "Not to my knowledge."  

A. No.  You have to read the post to know what 

it's about.  That's what I'm saying. 

Q. Okay.  So when you said "Not to my 

knowledge," I just want to be clear, are there other 

individuals who have knowledge to answer that 

question differently? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection, asked and answered. 

A. What are you asking?  I mean -- 

Q. If there's anyone else within the governor's 

office with knowledge that you may not have to 

answer this question differently.  

A. Answer what question?  

Q. How an individual -- or how a visitor to the 

Facebook and Twitter pages would know what the topic 

of a post is.  

A. My answer is:  The only way you would know 

the topic of a post is to read the post. 

Q. And is there anyone else within the 

governor's office with knowledge to answer that 
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question differently? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the form of the 

question. 

A. I mean, you're asking me to prove a negative.  

No.  I mean, I don't even understand your question.  

The only way you can understand what a post is about 

is by reading it.  I don't know how to be any more 

clear than that. 

Q. Mr. Brickman, I've heard you say that several 

times.  The only reason I'm asking about this 

knowledge question is because it was a response that 

you gave me when I asked about how a visitor would 

know, and you said "Not to my knowledge."  

      And my question to you is -- 

A. I should have been more clear and said the 

only way that somebody reading any of the governor's 

social media posts can understand what the post is 

about is by reading it. 

Q. Thank you.  

A. If I said "not to my knowledge," I didn't 

interpret it -- it didn't mean it any other way 

other than what I just said. 

Q. Thank you.  Now, the policy that we've been 

referring to in Exhibit 5, which is the Defendant's 

Responses to Plaintiffs' First Set of 
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Interrogatories, on Page 5, response to 

interrogatory number 5, this written policy that the 

governor's office issued in July 2017 says that -- 

up at the top of page 6 there, it references 

repeated off-topic comments, and this is what we've 

been discussing as something that may get a user 

blocked.  

Was there ever -- 

A. Where are you?  

Q. Yeah.  At the top of page 6.  Do you see 

that?  

      On the second line from the top, it references 

repeated off-topic comments -- 

A. Uh-huh. 

Q. -- in a list of the types of comments that 

will get a user banned -- or could get a user banned 

from the governor's social media accounts; is that 

correct? 

A. I don't understand your question. 

Q. I'm just asking -- you wanted to make sure 

that we were on the same page, and I'm just 

clarifying that we are.  

A. I'm on page 6. 

Q. Okay.  Up at the top -- well, we can start on 

line 1.  I'll read it into the record.  
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"Unfortunately" -- and this is from the 

governor's office official statement in July 2017.  

It doesn't have an exact date, but July of 2017.  

"Unfortunately, a small number of users 

misused those outlets" -- meaning the governor's 

social media platforms -- "by posting obscene and 

abusive language or images or repeated off-topic 

comments and spam."  

      Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  We previously discussed that this is 

the governor's office official policy about what 

kinds of comments could get a user blocked from his 

social media pages, and this statement was issued in 

July of 2017; is that correct? 

A. Uh-huh.  Yes. 

Q. Thank you.  My question to you is:  Before 

the summer of -- before July of 2017, how would 

users to the -- how would visitors to the governor's 

social media pages know that repeated off-topic 

comments may get them blocked? 

A. That's always been our policy, since the 

governor's inauguration.  I don't know how to answer 

the question any other way.  I mean, that's always 

been our policy.  
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      Presumably, somebody would know they got 

blocked after they got blocked by however Twitter 

and Facebook notifies them.  And I testified earlier 

that people that are blocked can request to be 

unblocked if they abide by this exact same policy, 

and that has happened before. 

Q. Did the governor's office publicize this 

policy -- which I understand you've testified has 

been the policy since day one of the 

administration -- prior to July of 2017? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the word 

"publicize."  It's vague.  Go ahead. 

Q. Answer, if you can.  

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Did the governor's office ever post this 

policy on his official social media accounts prior 

to July 2017? 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Is it posted on his official social media 

accounts now? 

A. What do you mean by "posted"?  

Q. Is this policy made available on either his 

official Facebook or official Twitter page now? 

A. I don't know the answer to that. 

Q. What record is maintained -- or I'm sorry.  
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Let me rephrase that.  

Is a record maintained within the governor's 

office of individual users who have been blocked 

from his official social media pages? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Communications director. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the extent this 

is beyond the scope of 30(b)(6) topics.  

MS. GATNAREK:  I think it's pretty squarely 

within 5, but that's fine because the witness 

answered that he didn't know. 

MR. MEREDITH:  What was your question?  Maybe 

I didn't understand your question.  What did you 

ask?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read it back?  Thank 

you.  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

MS. GATNAREK:  The witness testified he 

didn't know.  

Q. Is that correct, you don't know? 

A. (Witness shook head.) 

MS. GATNAREK:  But I do think it falls 

squarely within the process by which those policies 

are implemented.  
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MR. MEREDITH:  I disagree, but he answered.  

It's okay. 

Q. Do you know if -- I'm sorry.  Strike that.  

Do either Twitter or Facebook notify users if 

they've been blocked from a specific page? 

A. I can't speak to how Twitter and Facebook 

operate.  I don't know. 

      My understanding is individuals that have been 

blocked can find out through Twitter or Facebook 

that they've been blocked, but I can't speak to how 

that works.

Q. I'm only asking because just a few minutes 

ago, you testified that someone knows they're 

blocked through however Twitter or Facebook notifies 

them that they've been blocked, and I wondered if -- 

what that policy -- I wondered what that practice 

was.  

A. I don't know.  That's a question for Twitter 

or Facebook. 

Q. You've referenced several times the -- you've 

referenced several times that individual users who 

have been blocked from the governor's official 

social media pages can request to be unblocked; is 

that correct? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. What is that policy or practice? 

A. There's not a policy. 

Q. So is there not a written policy about that, 

about how a user would be unblocked? 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Do you know if -- strike that.  

Is there a practice by which users can be 

unblocked from the governor's official social media 

pages? 

A. I don't know how you define "practice," but I 

know that in the past there are individuals that 

have been blocked that have contacted our office and 

have agreed to abide by the policies that have been 

unblocked.  

      So stated another way, being blocked is not a 

permanent state of mind or state of being, or 

whatever term you want to use.  You can be unblocked 

if you agree to abide by the policy. 

Q. Do you know how many people have contacted 

the governor's office asking to be unblocked? 

A. I don't.  I know at least one. 

Q. Do you know if there have been any more than 

one? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Beyond however Twitter or Facebook may notify 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 91 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 946



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

92

users that they've been blocked, is there any other 

way that users who have been blocked from the 

governor's official social media pages are made 

aware of that block? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does the governor's office let individuals 

know that they've been blocked? 

A. Not to my knowledge. 

Q. Does anyone else have knowledge to answer 

that question? 

A. The communications director.  I think Twitter 

and Facebook is the entity that notifies them 

they've been blocked, to my understanding. 

Q. So you're -- I'm sorry.  

      You don't know if the governor's office 

notifies people that they've been blocked, but the 

person who would know is the communications 

director; is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Okay.  

A. My understanding is the individuals find out 

they've been blocked via Facebook and Twitter.  

That's my understanding of how this happens in 

practice. 

Q. Does the governor's office have an official 
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policy about whether or not to let people know that 

they've been blocked from his social media accounts? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does the governor's office have an 

official -- well, strike that.  Doesn't have to be 

official.  

Does the governor's office have a specific 

practice regarding letting people know that they've 

been blocked? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And when I say "practice," I mean official or 

unofficial.  

      Does that change your -- 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Okay.  Well, there is some practice that has 

developed, though, correct, about individuals 

requesting to be unblocked, because we're aware that 

at least one individual -- one person has requested 

this; is that correct? 

A. What's your question?  

Q. So my question is:  Who developed the 

practice for -- who within the governor's office 

developed the practice by which individuals can get 

unblocked from his official social media pages? 

A. What is a practice?  
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      Again, what -- my understanding of what 

happened, there was an individual that was blocked 

that contacted our office asking why he had been 

blocked.  We then communicated with him and 

explained our policy.  That individual agreed to 

abide by the policy, and he was unblocked.  

      If that is a practice, that is a practice that 

currently exists where any individual that is 

blocked can contact our office, agree to the policy, 

and they will be unblocked. 

Q. Did that practice exist prior to that 

individual who contacted your office? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Are you asking whether it had 

ever been done or whether it was possible to be 

done?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Both.  

A. I don't even understand the question.  

      I mean, somebody reached out to our office and 

asked to be unblocked, and they were.  I can't speak 

to what happened before that, but anyone before that 

one person could have done the same thing.  

      Anybody that abides by our policy -- obscene, 

abusive, not repeatedly off topic -- can be 

unblocked.  

 Now, if someone is unblocked and they violate that 
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policy again in the future, they could be blocked 

again.  

Q. Is there a limit to the number of times that 

someone may request to be unblocked -- let me 

rephrase.  

If a person is blocked and requests to be 

unblocked and they are, and if they then get blocked 

again, is there a limit to the number of times that 

someone could go through that cycle? 

A. I don't know the answer to that, how that's 

happened in practice.  I don't know.  But anyone 

that agrees to abide by our policy will not be 

blocked. 

Q. You don't know if that's happened, though -- 

A. I don't. 

Q. -- is that what you just said? 

MR. MEREDITH:  If what's happened?  

MS. GATNAREK:  If someone has been blocked 

and unblocked multiple times. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Okay.  

A. You're asking me if I know if that's happened 

or not?  I don't know. 

Q. And you don't -- or do you know if there is a 

limit to the number of times someone could be 

blocked and unblocked? 
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A. Anybody that abides by our policy will not be 

blocked.  That's the best way I can answer that 

question.  

Q. Okay.

(A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.) 

Q. Mr. Brickman, do you know who Drew Morgan is? 

A. No.  I know he's the plaintiff in the case, 

but I don't know him. 

Q. Do you understand that he was blocked from 

accessing the governor's official Twitter page? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Why was he blocked? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. In preparation for today's deposition, did 

you ask Ms. Kuhn if she knows why Drew Morgan was 

blocked? 

A. I did not. 

Q. Did you ask the governor if he knew -- if he 

knows why Drew Morgan was blocked? 

A. I did. 

Q. Does he know? 

A. He does not. 

Q. Does the governor's office save screenshots 
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of comments that may lead to an individual being 

blocked? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does the governor take screenshots of any 

individual that he may have blocked on Twitter? 

A. I don't think so. 

Q. Did you ask him about screenshots -- about 

whether he takes screenshots of people that he may 

have blocked on Twitter? 

A. Just in general?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. No. 

Q. In preparation for today's deposition? 

A. No.  I talked to him.  I did not ask him 

that. 

MR. MEREDITH:  I'll object to the extent that 

that's beyond the scope of 30(b)(6) topics.

Q. So does the governor's office have a record 

of why Drew Morgan was blocked from the governor's 

official Twitter page? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Do you know who Mary Hargis is? 

A. I know that's the plaintiff in this case.  

      Beyond that, no, I don't know anything about 

her. 
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Q. Do you know that she was blocked from 

accessing the governor's official Facebook page? 

A. That's my understanding.

Q. Why was Ms. Hargis blocked from the 

governor's official Facebook page? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does the governor's office have a record of 

why Ms. Hargis was blocked from -- 

A. I don't know. 

Q. -- the official Facebook page? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. And who would know? 

A. Communications director.  I'm not aware of 

it. 

Q. Was that part of the investigation that you 

undertook in preparation for today's deposition? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the extent it's 

beyond -- I'm sorry.  Never mind.  I'm sorry.  

A. I don't know anything about why she was 

blocked, Ms. Hargis. 

Q. I understand that.  

      I'm asking if -- if you investigated the facts 

related to the blocking of Ms. Hargis from Governor 

Bevin's official Facebook account.  

A. There's no record of it -- 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 98 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 953



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

99

Q. How do you know -- 

A. -- of any facts.

Q. How do you know there's no record of it? 

A. I'm not aware of any -- that we have anything 

about her blocking -- the blocking of Ms. Hargis. 

Q. And where -- 

A. I don't know why she was blocked. 

Q. So where does your understanding come from 

that there's no record? 

A. I don't -- I just -- I don't know.  My 

understanding is she was blocked in December of 

2015, which is now almost three years ago. 

Q. Where did that understanding come from? 

A. Discussions with people in our office. 

Q. So what investigation did you undertake to 

determine the facts related to Ms. Hargis being 

blocked from the defendant's official Facebook 

account?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Can I ask that the question is 

pending, so I think it's inappropriate to have 

communications with counsel while a question is 

pending. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Sure.  And so I'll object to 

the extent that it calls for attorney-client 

communications, but you can answer based on any -- 
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you know, anything that Elizabeth or Nicole or Woody 

or anybody else told you. 

A. What's your question?  

Q. What investigation did you undertake, in 

preparation for today's deposition, regarding the 

facts related to Ms. Hargis being blocked from 

Governor Bevin's official Facebook account? 

A. I asked the governor if he's ever heard of 

her or had anything to do with blocking, and he said 

no. 

Q. What else did you do? 

A. Tried to remember what else was discussed.  

I've had so many conversations about this, it's hard 

to remember exactly.  I think that's it. 

Q. And I understand that you don't know why 

Mr. Morgan was blocked, but what investigation did 

you undertake in preparation for today's deposition 

regarding the facts related -- relating to his being 

blocked from the governor's official Twitter 

account? 

A. When I discussed the -- when I talked to the 

governor, I asked him if he had ever heard of 

Mr. Morgan or had any idea why he was blocked, and 

he said no to both questions. 

Q. Did you do anything else? 
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A. Huh-uh. 

Q. I'm going to hand you another document that 

we've previously marked as deposition Exhibit 

Number 6, and I will -- oh, have you seen this 

document before? 

A. Is this different than the other one you 

showed me?  

Q. It is very slightly different, and I will 

explain why.  This Exhibit Number 5 was served on 

one day, and the next day Defendant served the 

supplemental.  

       The only change is that on the response to 

interrogatory number 2, there is a list of names.  

The supplemental responses include the governor's 

name.  The initial responses did not.  

A. Yes.

Q. I will represent that that's the only change, 

unless counsel has an objection to that.  

So I just want to refer to Exhibit Number 6 

for this next line of questioning, because this is 

the complete list.  

A. Okay. 

Q. And I want to ask you about some of these 

people on this list.  Okay?  We won't go through all 

of them, but I do want to ask you about some.  
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And as part of today's deposition, one of the 

noticed topics for your 30(b)(6) deposition is the 

involvement of these individuals identified in 

Defendant's response to interrogatory number 2 in 

maintaining the defendant's official social media 

pages.  

You're the first on that list, but let's come 

back to you.  

So first I would like to ask you:  What was 

Jessica Ditto's involvement in maintaining Governor 

Bevin's official social media pages? 

A. She was the communications director. 

Q. And what did she do in that role to maintain 

the governor's official social media pages? 

A. She was responsible for them. 

Q. Did she post content to the governor's 

official social media pages? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did she block or ban people from those pages? 

A. No. 

Q. Did she -- 

A. We're talking -- sorry.  Let me look at -- 

Q. Ms. Ditto, Jessica Ditto.  

A. You're asking for both, for Facebook and 

Twitter?  Let's start over.  
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Q. Sure.  Yep.  That's a great idea.  So let's 

discuss Jessica Ditto for a moment.  

      You said that she was responsible for the 

governor's social media pages.  Do you mean both 

Facebook and Twitter? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Great.  Can you tell me what role she had in 

maintaining the governor's official Facebook 

account? 

A. She posted comments, and she deleted or hid 

off-topic comments. 

Q. What about on his official Twitter account? 

A. She only posted content. 

Q. And you're getting these answers from the 

exhibit that we've marked as Exhibit 29, is that 

correct --

A. Yes.

Q. -- or from the document that we marked as 

Exhibit 29.  

So Catherine Easley has posted content to the 

governor's office's official Facebook account and 

blocked or banned people from that account, and she 

has posted content to the governor's official 

Twitter account; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. She has not blocked anybody on Twitter, is 

that correct, or from the governor's official 

Twitter account? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And she has not deleted or hidden any 

off-topic or inappropriate Facebook comments on the 

governor's Facebook page; is that correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Andrew King is listed on Exhibit 29 under 

Facebook as none.  

What does that mean? 

A. What does "none" mean?  

Q. Uh-huh.  

A. It means he didn't post content, he didn't 

block or ban anybody, and he didn't delete or hide 

any comments.

Q. And I think you previously testified that he 

may have had access to the governor's Facebook 

account, or he did have access to the governor's 

Facebook account? 

A. Having access is not the same as doing 1, 2, 

or 3. 

Q. I completely understand.  I just want to 

clarify if he had access to the governor's Facebook 

account.  
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A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  And then he -- Mr. King, again, on the 

governor's official Twitter account, it looks like 

he blocked or banned but did not post content -- did 

not post content; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  

A. You're basically asking me just to review 

this sheet with you right now.

Q. Well, hold on.  We're getting there.  So the 

next person I want to ask you about is Chris Skates.  

On Exhibit 29, Mr. Skates is listed under 

Facebook as none, which means he didn't do any of 

these three things.  And he's listed under Twitter 

as none, which I think means he didn't do any of 

these things on Twitter either.  

But do you see that on defendant's response 

to interrogatory number 2 he's listed as a person 

who has been involved in, "One, posting content to 

the governor's official Facebook or Twitter 

accounts; two, blocking or banning accounts that 

have made obscene, abusive, and/or off-topic 

comments on the governor's official Facebook and/or 

Twitter account; and/or, three, have deleted and/or 

hidden off-topic or inappropriate comments on the 
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governor's official Facebook account"?  

      Did I read that correctly?  

MR. MEREDITH:  I object to the conflation of 

the fact that being involved in doesn't necessarily 

mean -- 

MS. GATNAREK:  Well, we're getting -- I'm 

asking the witness for clarification.  Hold on just 

a moment.  

Q. Did I read that correctly, Mr. Brickman? 

A. Did you read what correctly?  

Q. That last paragraph on page 4 of deposition 

Exhibit Number 6.  

A. I didn't follow you word for word on this 

document when you were saying it, so I can't tell 

you if you did or didn't read it correctly. 

Q. Okay.  On page -- 

A. If you want me to go through it word for 

word, we can.  I can see if you did, but -- 

Q. In Defendant's supplemental response to 

interrogatory number 2, which we've identified here 

as Deposition Exhibit Number 6, Chris Skates is 

listed in a list of names in that response.  

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  Great.  
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Now, do you see where -- after that list of 

names, there's a sentence that begins, "These 

individuals have been involved in."  

Do you see that? 

A. Yes.

Q. And then that is the part that I read.  

"Posting content to the governor's official Facebook 

and/or Twitter accounts; two, blocking and/or 

banning accounts that have made obscene, abusive, 

and/or off-topic comments on the governor's official 

Facebook and/or Twitter accounts; and/or, three, 

have deleted and/or hidden off-topic or 

inappropriate comments on the governor's official 

Facebook account."  

What involvement did Mr. Skates have on 

either the governor's official Facebook or official 

Twitter page? 

A. He works in the communication operation.  

These are not -- there's nothing inconsistent about 

this response and this sheet, if that's what you're 

asking.  The interrogatory response says "involved 

in."  

Q. What involvement -- 

A. Exhibit 29 is people that have posted, 

blocked, banned, deleted, or hidden. 
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Q. What involvement has Mr. Skates had in doing 

one of the three things that's listed on that 

paragraph I read into the record from page 4 of 

Deposition Exhibit Number 6? 

A. I don't know, other than he works in our 

communications shop. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. The communications director. 

Q. Do you know why he was listed here in the 

response to interrogatory number 2? 

A. Because the response to interrogatory number 

2 has the words "involved in," and that's broader 

than what's on Exhibit 29. 

Q. Okay.  Let's put 29 aside for a second.  

Mr. Skates is listed in response to 

interrogatory number 2.  

What has his involvement been in posting 

content to the governor's official Facebook and/or 

Twitter accounts? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. What has his involvement been in blocking or 

banning accounts that have made obscene, abusive, 

and/or off-topic comments on the governor's official 

Facebook and/or Twitter accounts? 

A. I don't know. 
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Q. What has Mr. Skates' involvement been in 

having deleted and/or hidden off-topic or 

inappropriate comments on the governor's official 

Facebook account? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Further -- or right after Mr. Skates on that 

list is an individual named Ben Goldey.  

What has his involvement been in maintaining 

the defendant's official social media accounts? 

A. On Facebook, he posted content.  On Twitter, 

he posted content.  That's it. 

Q. Okay.  Right after Ben Goldey is Jordan 

Morgan.  

What has her involvement been in maintaining 

the defendant's official Facebook or Twitter 

accounts? 

A. Jordan Morgan blocked and banned people on 

Facebook.  She also deleted and hid off-topic or 

inappropriate Facebook comments.  On Twitter, she 

also blocked or banned people. 

Q. Okay.  What about several -- one, two, three, 

four -- four names after her, Leann Veatch?  

      What involvement did Ms. Veatch have in 

maintaining the defendant's official Facebook or 

Twitter accounts? 
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A. Her only involvement was deleting or hiding 

off-topic or inappropriate Facebook comments. 

Q. And right after her in that list is Jenna 

Williams.  

What involvement did Ms. Williams have in 

maintaining the defendant's official Facebook or 

Twitter accounts? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Who would know? 

A. Communications director. 

Q. And last on the list is Governor Bevin.  

      What involvement has he had in maintaining his 

official Facebook or Twitter accounts? 

A. He's had no involvement at all on Facebook.  

And on Twitter, he has posted content, and he has 

blocked or banned certain individuals based on our 

policy. 

Q. Has Governor Bevin blocked or banned 

individuals based on your policy since he became 

governor? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And does he still, currently? 

A. He can. 

Q. I will show you a document that we'll mark as 

Exhibit 30 and ask if you've seen this document?
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(EXHIBIT 30 WAS MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATION.) 

A. Is this the answer?  

Q. Yes.  

A. Hasn't been changed?  

Q. No.  

A. Then yes. 

Q. And you'll see it has the E-filing stamp at 

the top there.  

A. I've seen it. 

Q. One of the noticed 30(b)(6) topics for your 

deposition today is the factual basis for 

affirmative defenses asserted in Defendant's answer.  

So I will ask you to turn to page 11 of that 

document.  Are you there? 

A. Sure. 

Q. Great.  And I would like to ask you what the 

factual basis is for the affirmative defense 

asserted in paragraph number 68.  

A. Unclean hands, that paragraph?  

Q. Yes, sir.  "The plaintiffs' claims are barred 

by the doctrine of unclean hands."  

A. My understanding is the ACLU, nationwide, has 

only sued Republicans in cases like this.  That 

could lead to the conclusion that this is a 

political lawsuit, which was further demonstrated by 
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the fact that recently a Kentucky Democratic Party 

official participated in one of these depositions, 

which would lead one to the conclusion that this 

whole thing has just been a political fishing 

expedition and a complete exercise in politics.

Q. So the factual basis for that defense listed 

in paragraph 68 is -- wait.  I'm sorry.  Let me 

rephrase.  

Are there any other factual bases for that 

affirmative defense? 

A. Not that I can think of right now. 

Q. Are you aware of whether there are any other 

factual bases? 

A. No, not right now. 

Q. Were you previously aware of any -- 

A. No. 

Q. -- other factual bases? 

A. No. 

Q. And is there anyone else who would have 

knowledge beyond what you've shared today to answer 

this question? 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection.  You mean other 

than counsel, or do you mean fact witnesses?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Fact witnesses, yes. 

Q. Any other individuals with knowledge of facts 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 112 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 967



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

113

that support the defense asserted in paragraph 68?  

A. The communications director may.  I don't 

know. 

Q. Did you discuss with Ms. Kuhn what the 

factual bases are for Defendant's affirmative 

defense in paragraph 68? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did she share with you any factual bases 

beyond what you've testified to here? 

A. She did not.  Not that I remember, at least. 

Q. So she may have -- so she may have knowledge 

of factual bases that have not been testified to 

here? 

MS. GATNAREK:  Bless you. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Thank you. 

A. She may.  I can't speak for her.  Is it not 

true that the ACLU has only brought these cases 

against Republicans?  

Q. I'm not the witness here, Mr. Brickman.  

What is the factual basis for the affirmative 

defense asserted in paragraph 69? 

A. I'll give the same answer for laches way 

around estoppel.  

      My understanding is one of the plaintiffs in 

this case, Ms. Hargis, was blocked December 24th, 
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2015.  This case was not filed until a year and a 

half later.  

      With respect to Mr. Morgan, my understanding 

is he was blocked on or about February 8th, 2017, 

and this case was not brought until about six months 

later.  

      So a long period of time had passed, and 

that's a substantial amount of time.  Especially for 

Ms. Hargis; a year and a half.  And another six 

months for Mr. Morgan. 

Q. And what is the basis for your testimony that 

Ms. Hargis was blocked on January 24th of 2015 -- 

December 24th of 2015?  I'm sorry.  

A. My understanding of when she was blocked. 

Q. Where does that understanding come from? 

A. Discussion with -- 

MR. MEREDITH:  Objection to the extent it 

calls for attorney-client communications, but you 

can answer to the extent that you recall from 

conversations with Nicole or Woody or Elizabeth or 

anybody else. 

A. It's just my understanding is that that's the 

day she was blocked. 

Q. Have you seen any documentation confirming 

that? 
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A. No. 

Q. Do you know where Ms. Burton's understanding 

of that fact comes from? 

A. I don't. 

Q. Do you know where Ms. -- you said Woody was 

the other person you talked with? 

A. (Witness nodded head.)  

Q. Do you know where Mr. Maglinger's 

understanding of that fact comes from? 

A. No. 

Q. Are there any other factual bases that you're 

aware of for any of the other affirmative defenses 

listed here that I haven't asked you about? 

A. No.  On paragraph 67, I would like to 

supplement my answer. 

Q. Yes.  

A. About the plaintiffs suffering no injuries; 

and therefore, having no standing.  

      The two plaintiffs in this case, like every 

other person out there, should they acknowledge that 

they would abide by the policies like everybody 

else, they also would be unblocked. 

Q. Thank you.  But you don't know why either of 

them was blocked? 

A. I don't.  It's also my understanding that the 
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ACLU may have recruited these two plaintiffs to be 

plaintiffs, which I think would go to the unclean 

hands affirmative defense. 

Q. Anything else?  

      Any other factual bases for affirmative 

defenses before I move on from that? 

A. They've been injured not at all. 

Q. Is that a factual basis or a legal 

conclusion? 

A. They could be unblocked if they abide by the 

policy, so how could they possibly have been 

injured?  

      You know, the other thing is either one of 

these plaintiffs -- or anybody, for that matter, 

could go and create a different account.  All of 

these platforms are publicly available, where if 

they weren't logged into either one of their 

accounts, they could read everything on that same 

account.  Therefore, they have no injury. 

Q. Okay.  You previously testified -- and I 

believe this is noted in the document we've marked 

as Exhibit 29 -- that Governor Bevin has blocked or 

banned people from his official Twitter page.  

And I asked you if you knew whether he had 

taken screenshots of any of those comments that led 
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to his blocking people, and I think you said that 

you did not know; is that correct? 

A. I do not know.  I talked to the governor 

about this.  I do not know if he's taken 

screenshots.  I do know that every person that he 

has blocked has been somebody that violated our 

policy. 

Q. How do you know that? 

A. I asked him. 

Q. How many people has he blocked -- 

A. I don't know. 

Q. -- from his Twitter page?  

Did you ask him? 

A. I did not. 

Q. Did he discuss with you any specific 

circumstances of those blocks?  

Did he give you any examples? 

A. He did not give me any specific examples.  He 

did tell me that every person that he's blocked has 

been blocked for one of three reasons:  they've been 

obscene, they've been abusive, or they've had 

repeated off-topic comments. 

Q. Did he indicate to you approximately how many 

people he's blocked? 

A. No. 
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Q. Did you ask him approximately how many people 

he's blocked? 

A. No. 

Q. How often does the governor block people from 

his official Twitter page? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Does he block -- does he block people weekly? 

A. I just said I don't know. 

Q. You don't know if he blocks people daily? 

A. I still said I don't know. 

Q. Okay.  And when we were going through this 

list of people that are -- that are listed in the 

defendant's response to interrogatory number 2, 

which we have as Deposition Exhibit Number 6, you 

are the first person on that list.  

      Do you see that? 

A. I am. 

Q. Great.  What involvement have you had in 

posting content to the governor's official Facebook 

or Twitter accounts? 

A. None. 

Q. What involvement have you had in blocking or 

banning accounts that have made obscene, abusive, 

and/or off-topic comments on the governor's Facebook 

and/or Twitter accounts? 
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A. None. 

Q. And what involvement have you had in having 

deleted or hidden off-topic or inappropriate 

comments on the governor's official Facebook 

account? 

A. None. 

Q. What involvement have you had in monitoring 

the governor's social media accounts? 

A. Define "monitoring." 

Q. Well, I'm reading from this document.  

      So "Subject to that objection, the following 

individuals have been involved at one time or 

another in monitoring the governor's social media 

accounts since December 8th, 2015.  Blake Brickman."  

A. Is there a question there?  

Q. What involvement have you had in monitoring 

the governor's social media accounts since 

December 8th, 2015? 

A. I don't know what "monitoring" means here, 

but I can tell you that my involvement in social 

media, I read what he posts and what the office 

posts.  

       If that's considered monitoring, I'm involved 

in that.  I don't post, I don't ban, I don't block 

on the official Twitter or Facebook accounts. 
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Q. And you said you don't delete comments, is 

that -- 

A. Don't delete comments.

Q. When you say you read posts, do you mean 

before they are published? 

A. No.  Just like everyone else in the public, I 

read them. 

Q. After they've been posted to the governor's 

pages, you may read that them? 

A. Yeah.  And again, I don't know what 

"monitoring" means. 

Q. Do you know why you're on this list? 

A. No.  Other than -- no. 

Q. You may have testified to this previously.  

And I apologize if you did, but let me just ask it 

in case.  

Do you have access to administer the 

governor's Facebook page? 

A. No. 

Q. So you don't have a login -- 

A. No. 

Q. -- to the governor's page, or administrative 

privileges? 

A. No. 

Q. Do you have access to administer the 
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governor's Twitter page? 

A. No. 

Q. So you don't have a login to that page? 

A. No idea what it is. 

MS. GATNAREK:  I think we're almost done, but 

if I could just have a few minutes. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Quick break. 

MS. GATNAREK:  Uh-huh.  Thank you. 

      (A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.) 

MS. GATNAREK:  We have no further questions 

for you, Mr. Brickman.  Thank you. 

MR. MEREDITH:  I've got a few follow-ups.  

EXAMINATION

BY MR. MEREDITH:

Q. Mr. Brickman, is it your understanding that 

it is up to the communications director to determine 

who posts on the governor's official Facebook and 

Twitter accounts? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is it your understanding that she has 

discretion in that matter? 

A. Yes.

Q. And is it your understanding that she makes 
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those decisions just based on what she thinks is 

prudent? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that she doesn't have a policy or written 

set of guidelines to go by, she just does what she 

thinks is right? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And is it your understanding that it's also 

within the discretion of the communications director 

to determine who has access to administer the 

defendant's official Facebook and Twitter accounts? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is it also your understanding that she 

exercises that discretion just based on what she 

thinks is prudent? 

A. Yes.

Q. And that there are no written policies or 

guidelines that she follows beyond her own 

understanding of what's prudent? 

A. There's no written policies or guidelines, 

that's correct.  Whatever she thinks is prudent. 

Q. Is it your understanding that the 

communications director determines which members of 

the governor's office staff are tasked with blocking 

or banning accounts on Twitter and Facebook? 
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A. Yes, the communications director makes that 

determination. 

Q. Okay.  And is it your understanding that she 

explains the policy to those staff members and 

instructs them on their duties? 

A. Yes.  I talked to her when -- I spoke with 

the communications director, she told me that 

everybody on the team understands the policy. 

Q. Have you spoken with the communications 

director regarding the blocking of Mr. Morgan and 

Mary Hargis? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is it your understanding that if anyone 

would have any knowledge of their blocking, that it 

would be members of the communications office? 

A. Yes.  I talked to her about this yesterday, 

refreshed my memory again today, that nobody in the 

communications office has any knowledge whatsoever 

about the blocking of Mr. Morgan or Ms. Hargis -- 

let me correct, why they were blocked. 

Q. So they know that they were blocked, they 

just -- nobody has any idea why they were blocked? 

A. Nobody in the governor's office has any 

knowledge why Mr. Morgan or Ms. Hargis was blocked. 

Q. Opposing counsel asked you a lot of questions 
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about how a person would know what they're not 

allowed to post on our Twitter and Facebook pages. 

     Do you have to -- should a person just know 

from common sense and common decency not to post 

obscenities? 

A. Yes.  Everybody should know what is obscene, 

what is abusive.  It's common knowledge. 

Q. And is it common courtesy not to make 

repeated off -- clearly off-topic comments on a 

Facebook or Twitter post? 

A. Yes.  Nobody should ever try to hijack a 

conversation that they didn't start. 

Q. That's just kind of common sense, right? 

A. It's common sense. 

Q. I think earlier we talked about -- you were 

asked some questions about your involvement with 

monitoring the social media accounts.  

Have you ever -- in the past, ever 

collaborated with the communications director or 

anyone at the communications office about the 

content of a post? 

A. Yes.  

Q. Okay.  Do you -- 

A. I have never uploaded -- I have never posted 

myself.  I have collaborated with others in the 
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communications office about some of the content on 

the post.  But just to the clear, I've never 

actually posted a comment myself. 

Q. And do you think maybe that's why you're 

listed in interrogatory number -- well, whatever 

that exhibit -- listed there in Exhibit 6? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And do you know if the governor has also 

collaborated in a similar fashion with the 

communications department when it comes to the 

content of a post? 

A. Yes.  I mean, he obviously has.  I mean, some 

of the posts are actually videos of the governor.  

So obviously, he's collaborated on the posts.  

      But maybe I should clarify that when I said he 

had no involvement whatsoever on the official 

Facebook, what I should have said or meant to say 

was he's never actually posted himself.  He's never 

blocked or banned anyone on Facebook or hidden or 

deleted any comments on the official Facebook.  

      So to that extent, his involvement on the 

official Facebook is really no different than mine. 

Q. Okay.  Which is just kind of limited to 

collaborating on the creation of the content that 

eventually makes it on there? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  You also talked earlier about how one 

would go about understanding what the topic of a 

post is.  

      If a topic -- or if a post contains a video or 

pictures or something like that, would the video or 

the pictures also inform you what the topic is? 

A. Yes.  I think earlier I said he would have to 

read the post.  But in some cases the post is just a 

video, in which case, he would have to actually 

watch the video as well, to understand the topic of 

the post. 

Q. Mr. Brickman, is the governor's office's 

policy on blocking Twitter and Facebook accounts 

viewpoint neutral, or does it -- or do people get 

blocked based on the viewpoint that they're 

expressing? 

A. The office policy is viewpoint neutral.  I 

know for a fact that -- from my conversations with 

the communications director that there have been 

people that are -- I could characterize as 

supporters of the governor that have violated the 

policy that have been blocked.  

       So it has nothing to do with whether you are 

for or against the governor or any policies or 
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anything he actually posts.  It's strictly whether 

your comments are obscene, abusive, or repeatedly 

off topic.  It has nothing to do with the content of 

what you're actually saying. 

Q. So if you make a comment that is expressing 

support for the governor or his policies but that 

comment violates the social media policy, you're 

going to be blocked? 

A. Yes.  And that's happened. 

Q. Okay.  And similarly, if someone makes a 

negative comment against the governor or his 

policies but that comment does not violate the 

social media policy, that person's not going to be 

blocked; is that correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. And, in fact, are there comments that are 

negative toward the governor or his policies that 

exist on his social media accounts? 

A. There are many comments that are opposed that 

do not result in the user being blocked.  That 

happens all the time.  

      Again, it's content neutral in terms of 

whether you're supportive or opposing either the 

governor or his policy agenda.  Any comment that 

violates the policy results in a blocking. 
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Q. Okay.  

A. We also talked earlier about the Facebook 

filters.  Facebook filters, all they do is hide 

comments.  They do not actually result in blocking.  

It just hides the comment for people that are not 

on -- that do not have access to the account in the 

governor's office.  

      People that do not have that access can't see 

the comments, but people that do have access can see 

the comments if they make it through -- if they 

don't make it through the filter. 

Q. Okay.  Have you discussed the purpose of the 

official social media accounts with the governor? 

A. I have, many times. 

Q. Okay.  And what is your understanding -- or 

what is the purpose of the social media accounts? 

A. The purpose of those social media accounts on 

Facebook and Twitter is for the governor to 

communicate his message to the people of Kentucky 

and whoever else accesses either his Facebook or his 

Twitter site. 

Q. Okay.  Let's skip back to off-topic comments.  

When staff members of the governor's office 

are reviewing posts and looking for off-topic 

comments, is there kind of a rule of thumb or a 
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general -- not a hard line, but often maybe a 

threshold line that will result in kind of a -- 

someone being flagged as a repeated off-topic 

commenter? 

A. Yes.  I mean, repeated, by definition, means 

more than one.  The rule of thumb is generally three 

or more.  From my conversations with the 

communications director on how it's actually 

applied, it's generally three or more repeated 

off-topic comments.  

      It's also, again, from my conversations with 

the communications director, generally -- or the 

policy is to err on the side of not blocking, unless 

it's very, very clear that the individual has 

repeatedly posted off-topic comments.  It's like in 

baseball, the tie goes to the runner. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Let's take about a 30-second 

break.  I might be done.  

      (A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.) 

Q. I just want to make sure the record's clear 

on your and the governor's involvement with posts on 

social media.  

      We were talking earlier about the fact that 

you have collaborated with coming up with content of 

posts and that the governor has collaborated with 
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the communications office when it comes to creating 

the content for posts.  And I think I asked you if 

that was the extent of his involvement.  And I think 

you said that it was.  

      So I just want to make sure you're talking 

about when it comes to actually creating content and 

uploading it to the Internet, when you -- you're 

just talking about that's -- the extent of the 

governor's involvement in terms of creating content 

and uploading it to the Internet just collaborating 

on the initial creation of the content, correct? 

A. On Facebook?  

Q. On Facebook or Twitter -- or on Facebook, 

yes.  

A. Yes. 

Q. And when it comes to Twitter, he probably 

posts sometimes himself on Twitter, right?

A. Yeah.  I talked to the governor.  He doesn't 

even have login ability on Facebook. 

Q. Okay.  So the extent of his involvement when 

it comes to the creation of content for posts is 

just collaborating with the communications office? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Okay.  And he also collaborates for Twitter 

posts, right? 
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A. He does. 

Q. But he's also capable of making his own 

posts? 

A. He is. 

Q. Okay.  When you were talking about 

collaboration, were you talking about posting and 

creating content for posts?  

      Is that what we're talking about in terms of 

collaboration? 

A. Yes. 

MR. MEREDITH:  I think that's all we have.  

EXAMINATION

BY MS. GATNAREK:

Q. Just a few moments ago you were asked 

about -- and I think you testified that it's your 

understanding that some favorable comments -- that 

some comments favorable to the governor have 

resulted in someone being blocked from one of his 

social media pages for having violated the policy; 

is that correct?  

Did you testify to that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How do you know that? 
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A. I talked to the communications director, 

Elizabeth Kuhn, about that, and she confirmed that 

there have been individuals that objectively are 

supporters of Governor Bevin and/or his agenda that 

have violated the policy and have been blocked.  

      Those individuals, like everybody else, could 

agree to abide by the policy and be unblocked, just 

like the two plaintiffs in this case.  

Q. Did you review any documents to confirm that 

understanding? 

A. What understanding?  

Q. That some comments favorable to Governor 

Bevin have resulted in an individual being blocked 

for having violated the social media policy? 

A. I didn't review any documents, but the 

communications director told me that was the case, 

that individuals that are supporters of the governor 

and/or his agenda have been blocked.  

      We do not discriminate based on whether you 

are a supporter of the governor or opponent of the 

governor; whether you're for his agenda or whether 

you're against his agency.  It's all about whether 

you abide by the policy of not posting content that 

is obscene, abusive, or repeatedly off topic. 

Q. Did you discuss any specific examples of 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 132 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 987



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

133

those blocks with the communications director? 

A. Which blocks?  

Q. People who have been blocked for having made 

comments favorable to Governor Bevin but that have 

violated the social media policy.  

A. We did not discuss anything specific, but she 

told me that she was 100 percent certain that that 

is the case, that individuals that are supporters of 

the governor have been blocked. 

Q. Do you know where her understanding of that 

comes from? 

A. I don't. 

Q. Are you aware of any instances of comments 

that are favorable to Governor Bevin resulting in 

the person being blocked from his social media page 

for violating the policy against repeated off-topic 

comments? 

A. I don't have any specific examples for you 

about anybody being blocked.  But I can tell you 

that our policy, which the communications director 

confirmed to me, is that if a supporter of Governor 

Bevin and/or his agenda hijacked posts, posted 

repeatedly off-topic comments, that individual, 

regardless of whether they supported him or not, 

will be blocked. 
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Q. Do you know or did the communications 

director confirm for you whether anyone has been 

blocked from the governor's social media pages for 

having posted repeated off-topic favorable comments 

on the governor's social media accounts? 

MR. MEREDITH:  I'm sorry.  I didn't 

understand the question.  Could you say it again?  

MS. GATNAREK:  Could you read that back?  

(Reporter read from the record as requested.) 

A. The communications director confirmed to me 

that individuals have been blocked that did not 

abide by our policy, which includes all three of 

those things.  So included in that would be repeated 

off-topic comments.  

      If you're a supporter of Governor Bevin's or 

his agenda, you cannot hijack a Twitter post or a 

Facebook post repeatedly and expect not to be 

blocked.  You will be blocked, like everybody else. 

Q. But you're -- 

A. Everybody else that violates the policy.  

Sorry. 

Q. But you're not aware of specific instances of 

someone being blocked for having posted repeated 

off-topic favorable comments toward the governor? 

A. I can't give you any specific examples or 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 134 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 989



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

135

individuals' names.  I can only confirm what the 

communications director told me, which is that is 

our policy. 

Q. Is there any documentation that would confirm 

whether that's true? 

A. I don't know.  Not to my -- I don't -- I 

haven't seen any. 

Q. Do you know if any exists? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. You clarified with your counsel the role that 

the Facebook keyword filter plays in the governor's 

office's ability to monitor his social media pages, 

and I just wanted to confirm something about that.  

I understand that we don't have specific 

words that are in that Facebook keyword filter, but 

I understand that some of the words contained 

therein are curse words; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And that would -- if someone posts one of 

those curse words on the governor's page, that would 

be a prohibition of the social media policy against 

posting obscene content; is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So if somebody posts a comment on the 

governor's Facebook page that contains one of the 
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curse words or obscene language contained in the 

keyword filter, I understand that that comment would 

be hidden; is that correct? 

A. By hidden -- by hidden, that means that 

people that are not given access to the site, people 

that are not on our staff, would not be able to see 

that comment. 

Q. Yes.  And I -- 

A. The outside world would not be able to see 

the comment. 

Q. Yes.  Thank you.  

And I believe you said that if someone were 

to post one of those comments that got -- that were 

hidden as a result of the Facebook keyword filter, 

they wouldn't be blocked from the governor's page; 

is that correct? 

A. They would be, if they violated the policy.  

The filter would not -- the filter -- the Facebook 

filter does not have the ability to block somebody.  

The Facebook filter only hides comments that are 

triggered by one of the words that are inputted into 

the filter.  Facebook filter does not block. 

Q. Okay.  So how would those people end up being 

blocked? 

A. One of the individuals on Exhibit 29 that has 
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access to the Facebook account would be able to see 

that comment and would then block that person 

because they violated the policy. 

Q. Okay.  And then just to clarify the last line 

of questioning, I believe, with your counsel was 

regarding the governor's involvement with posts.  

      There was a line of questioning about 

collaboration, but I just want to confirm that you 

discussed with the governor his involvement on his 

official Twitter page; is that correct? 

A. I did. 

Q. And he confirmed for you that he has, on some 

number of occasions, blocked people on Twitter -- 

blocked people from his official Twitter account? 

A. The governor has blocked people from his 

official Twitter account that violated our policy 

because he or she posted obscene, abusive, or 

repeatedly off-topic comments. 

Q. And I believe you testified, but just to 

clarify, there is not a documentary record of those 

blocks, is there? 

A. No. 

MS. GATNAREK:  I think that's it.  Thank you. 

MR. MEREDITH:  Got a couple to clarify real 

quick. 

Case: 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA   Doc #: 62-9   Filed: 04/30/19   Page: 137 of 140 - Page
 ID#: 992



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

McLENDON-KOGUT REPORTING SERVICE, LLC (502) 585-5634

138

EXAMINATION

BY MR. MEREDITH:

Q. When you talked about the Facebook filter, 

you said people would be -- comments that are caught 

in the filter, I think you said something to the 

effect that people will be blocked because they 

violate the policy.  I just want to make sure we're 

clear.  

Just because a comment is caught by the 

filter doesn't necessarily mean that person's going 

to be blocked, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. You still have to go and look at the comment.  

And if the comment is -- violates the filter -- or 

I'm sorry.  

     If the comment violates the policy, that person 

will be blocked, right? 

A. Correct. 

Q. But if it doesn't violate the policy, they're 

not going to be blocked, right? 

A. Correct. 

Q. So the fact that -- the fact that it's caught 

by the filter has nothing to do with whether they're 

going to -- that account's going to be blocked or 
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not, right? 

A. Correct. 

MR. MEREDITH:  That's all I have.  

MS. GATNAREK:  That's all.  Thank you. 

      (A Discussion Was Held Off the Record.) 

MR. MEREDITH:  One more follow-up.  I'm 

sorry.  I have just one more. 

Q. You were asked about Elizabeth Kuhn's 

understanding regarding positive comments being 

blocked.  

Is it your understanding that that's 

something that would be within her knowledge as the 

communications director? 

A. Yes. 

MR. MEREDITH:  That's all I've got.  

MS. GATNAREK:  Thank you. 

(Deposition concluded at 11:45 

a.m.) 

*              *              *
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STATE OF KENTUCKY )
)
)  SS. 
)

COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

I, Dannielle Copeland, RDR, CRR, a Notary 

Public within and for the State at Large, my 

commission as such expiring 28 September 2019, do 

hereby certify that the foregoing deposition of 

JAMES BLAKE BRICKMAN was taken before me at the time 

and place stated and for the purpose in the caption 

stated; that the said witness was first duly sworn 

to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 

the truth; that the deposition was reduced by me to 

shorthand writing in the presence of the witness; 

that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct 

transcript of the said deposition so given; that 

there was no request that the witness read and sign 

the deposition; that the appearances were as stated 

in the caption.

WITNESS my hand this 28th day of October 

2018.

                             
Registered Diplomate Reporter
Certified Realtime Reporter
Notary Public, State at Large
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1 = post content 
2 = block or ban based upon policy 
3 = delete or hide off-topic or inappropriate Facebook comments 

Facebook 

• Blake Brickman: none 

• Nicole Burton: 1, 2, 3 

• Jessica Ditto: 1, 3 

• Catherine Easley: 1,2: 

• John Hodgson: 3 

• Andrew King: none 

• Elizabeth Kuhn: 1, 2, 3 

• Woody Maglinger III: 1, 2,3 

• Chris Skates: none 

• Ben Goldey: 1 

• Jordan Morgan; 2, 3 

• Taylor Sears: none 

• Kathryn Snavely: none 

• Amanda Stamper: 1, 2, 3 

• Lean" Veatch: 3 
• lenna Williams: unknown at this time 

• John Zurowski: 1,2,3 

• Governor Bevin: none 

Twitter 

• Blake Brickman: none 

• Nicole Burton: 1, 2: 

• Jessica Ditto: 1 

• Catherine Easley: 1 

• John Hodgson: none 

• Andrew King: 2 

• Elizabeth Kuhn: 1, 2 

• Woody Maglinger III; 1,2: 

• Chris Skates: none 

• Ben Goldey: 1 

• Jordan Morgan: 2: 

• Taylor Sears: 1 

• Kathryn Snavely: 2: 

• Amanda Stamper: 1, 2: 

• Leann Veatch: none 

• lenna Williams: unknown at this time 

• John Zurowski: 1, 2 

• Governor Bevin: 1, 2 
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Current Twitter access: 

• Elizabeth Kuhn 

• Woody MagJinger II! 

• Nicole Burton 

• John Zurowski 

• Kathryn Snavely 

• Governor Bevin 

Current Facebook access: 

• Elizabeth Kuhn 

• Garry Gupton 

• John Zurowski 

• Woody Maglinger III 

• Nicole Burton 

" Chase Scott 

• Kathryn Snavely 

• John Hodgson 

• Leann Veatch 
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            )  
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that's impossible for me to do.

Q. That's okay.

A. Okay.

Q. That's totally fine.  It was a little -- it was

different, so I wanted to make sure we had it clear,

and if it's that you don't know, that's fine.

A. So you would need to ask Woody whether he was

trained before or after.

Q. Okay.  So with respect to you said that

everybody before they were involved in managing

social media, the comments and blocking people, you

said they were provided with some sort of a verbal

training?

A. Correct.

Q. Is that correct?  Okay.  Can you describe what

that verbal training looked like?

A. Sure.

Q. If you were to train me, what would you tell

me?

A. Sure.  So we need you to monitor the Facebook

page, the Twitter account.  Anybody that posts

offensive, abusive language is blocked.  If there is

anybody that you notice that is repeatedly posting

off-topic comments, they're blocked as well.

Q. Okay.  And so who -- you -- did you provide
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that -- let me take a step back.

Was there anything else, other than that

explanation that you just gave me, anything else that

was provided as part of the training before they were

able to take on the task of managing and monitoring

the social media?

A. Just that -- to always err -- and part of that

too was to always err on the side of caution, you

know.  If you doubt whether or not something is off

topic or repeatedly off topic, always err on the side

of caution and just leave it.

Q. So other than those two sort of general

statements, was there any other specific training

provided, any handouts?

A. No.

Q. Any examples shown?

A. No.

Q. And so the training that we just discussed, you

were the one who provided that to Woody?

A. I'm sure that I did.  I would be speculating.

To say with a hundred percent certainty, no, but I

believe -- if I didn't, Nicole did.

Q. Okay.

A. Because Nicole is the social media manager, so

I either asked her to or I did it myself, and I
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asked you whether a comment was abusive, without

necessarily remembering exactly what they asked you,

but whether someone did ask you?

A. Sometimes when they would first start they

would say, "I don't know," you know, test the waters,

but after that it's -- I mean, it's pretty clear.

We always erred on the side of caution, and so,

I mean, it really had to be bad, you know.  Not like

you suck or, you know, stuff like that, but actual

hate.

Q. And is a user blocked after one abusive

comment?

A. I couldn't answer that with certainty.

Q. Okay.  In your general policy, was it a policy

to block someone after one abusive comment?

A. Any -- yes.  I mean, yes.

Q. Were there any times that you can recall where

there was a disagreement about whether a comment was

abusive?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  What kind of comments are obscene?

A. Curse words, for the most part.  Using, you

know, profanity.  Posting profanity using other

character letters, you know, anything that if someone

came and saw the post, that they would clearly be
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able to read that it was obscene.

Q. Is the discretion of whether a comment is

obscene, was that left to the person who was

monitoring social media?

A. On the side, erring on the side of caution,

yes.

Q. And was there any way somebody who visited the

Facebook page knew what kind of comments your office

would consider obscene?

A. By visiting the page, just looking at the page?

Can you clarify what you're asking?

Q. Well, let's start with by looking at the page.

Was there a way that a Facebook user could tell what

you-all would consider obscene?

A. I'm trying to remember.  I can't remember.

Q. Okay.  So you can't --

A. I haven't looked at the page in months, so I

can't remember.

Q. So you can't recall anything now?

A. I can't recall.

Q. Is there any other way that you can recall that

a user on Facebook would be able to tell or have an

idea of what your office would consider obscene?

A. No.

Q. And with respect to Twitter, was there a way
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A. They would appear to be.  Now whether or not

they changed one word in the middle of the middle of

a post, I can't say.

Q. But something that appears to be --

A. But it was still the same off-topic comment

with the same meaning, same purpose.

Q. Okay.

A. Whether the words were exactly the same, I

can't answer that with certainty.

Q. Okay.  And are we talking across three posts,

four posts, five posts?

A. So the minimum would be three.

Q. And is there a time period, so if somebody made

what somebody would consider -- if somebody said

Remember in November to that post, and then a week

later made the same comment, Remember in November,

and then a week after that made another Remember in

November.

A. There was no documentation of when somebody

made an off-topic comment and then, you know, looked

at a week later to see was that there.  I mean, there

would be no way.  What you're saying would be

impossible to monitor.

Q. So how was it monitored to see if it was

repeated over time?
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A. Have I ever seen this document before?  No, I

don't think so.

Q. Earlier you said you had seen some Twitter or

Facebook posts.

A. I don't recall seeing this.

Q. Okay.  This is a tweet that was posted by

Governor Bevin on September 30th, correct?

A. It appears so, yes.

Q. And can you read the text of the post?

A. "As the sun sets on another weekend we are

thankful for our beautiful Kentucky home.  We are

Kentucky."

Q. Okay.  So in your -- let me strike that.

What is -- what would you consider to be the

topic of this post?

A. Just a feel good, celebrate Kentucky post.

Just an evergreen, sort of no -- just a very general

post, yeah.

Q. So does that mean --

A. About Kentucky.

Q. What sort of comments would be considered off

topic if it's generally about Kentucky?

A. I mean, I think on-topic comments would be

about the beauty of Kentucky.

Q. So limited to the beauty of Kentucky?
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A. Just to monitor the replies.

Q. Was there any other purpose to reviewing those

replies?

A. Just to monitor the same way that we did, as we

did on Facebook.

Q. Okay.  Did you monitor the replies to get a

flavor of what people were saying in response to the

Governor's replies?

A. Can you clarify what you mean by "the flavor of

what people are saying"?

Q. A sense, a general sense of what people were

saying in response to the Governor's, the tweets?

A. I mean, generally, yes.  I mean, we did that

with both.

Q. Why did you do that?

A. I mean, sometimes we would get constructive

feedback or that we could use to help address

concerns or issues.

Q. Did anybody ever ask you about how a tweet was

received by the Twitter users?

A. There would be conversation after, you know.

If something was well received in our office we would

say, "Oh, we need to do more posts like that," but

no, other than that, not really.

Q. Did you have conversations with Nicole about
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A. Okay.

Q. What kind of comments are obscene?  And let

me -- again, I'm going to refer to comments, and if

there's a difference between Twitter and Facebook

will you let me know?  Otherwise, can we assume that

we're talking about both?  If that's not okay with

you we can do each one separately, but it might be

easier.

A. Yes, that's fine.

Q. Okay.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  So what kind of comments are obscene?

A. Comments that are vulgar.  That would include,

you know, swear words, also emojis, offensive emojis

such as a middle finger.

Q. Okay.  Who decides whether a comment is

obscene?

A. Whoever is moderating and reviewing the

comment.

Q. Is there a review or approval process regarding

whether a comment is obscene?

A. Can you define what you mean by "review

process"?

Q. Does anybody need to check with any other

individual in the -- on your team before determining
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Q. Is there a distinction -- sometimes you've

referred to off topic and sometimes it's referred to

as repeated off topic.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Is there a distinction in terms of what would

cause somebody to be blocked or banned?

A. No.

Q. So a single off topic could cause somebody to

be blocked?

A. No, it's -- to be blocked for being off topic

you would have to make repeated off-topic comments.

Q. And what is your understanding of repeated?

A. So I follow kind of a general rule of thumb of

three within one post.  If I see someone, and you can

tell because it's usually a copy and paste job, if I

see three or more of those in one post, then I will

block that person.

Q. And so it has to be within the one post, not

within other -- like so if somebody made what you

would consider off topic on, you know, October 10th,

and then they also had made the same one October 3rd,

and then October 1st, would that warrant them being

blocked, in your opinion?

A. No.

Q. And from whom did you learn that sort of rule
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message we want to get out.  For example, this month

is manufacturing month in Kentucky, and so we've done

several posts about manufacturing month because it is

the month of October, and that's something that is

important to the economy of the state, is

manufacturing.

Q. Can you give me an example, speaking of

manufacturing, an example of what an off-topic

comment would be to a post about manufacturing in

Kentucky?

A. Sure.  So if someone was promoting a product

that they were selling, and they did that in three

different comments talking about that particular

product, that would be something that would be off

topic.

Q. What about noncommercial off topic?

A. That would be the same.  If someone posted

three times.  For example, we have -- I'll give you

an example of we have a group that posts a lot about

medical marijuana and the comments.  If they posted

that same post three times related to medical

marijuana, that would be something we would consider

as blocking the account.

THE WITNESS:  If we could, I'd like to go ahead

and take a break.
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process of reinstating people's accounts.  So what's

your understanding of that process?

A. My understanding is that if someone contacts us

and said -- and says that they would like to be, you

know, reinstated, have a particular account

reinstated on Facebook or Twitter, we send them a

form paragraph saying do you agree to abide by our

social media policies.  If they say yes, then we

unblock them.

Q. And how do they know to contact you or who to

contact about becoming unblocked?

A. Our contact information for the Governor's

office is generally available online, on our website,

several different ways that they could get that

information.

Q. But in terms of specifically about -- there's

no specific information about contacting someone in

the Governor's office about being unblocked?

A. Not that I'm aware of.

Q. You were just referring to the general contact

information that's available anywhere, you know,

either on media pages or on the Internet?

A. Correct.

Q. I'm going to hand you what's been marked as

Exhibit 11.
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available at https://twitter.com/GovMattBevin/status/914862057614344193 (last accessed April 

29, 2019) 
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pattern of them doing that, then yes, or if it's an

extremely abusive comment, yes.

Q. And is it your understanding that others in the

office follow a similar practice on -- with respect

to blocking abusive comments on Twitter?

A. That would be my understanding.

Q. So I understand -- so we're going to go through

the other categories.  I want to make sure I have

them correct.

A. Okay.

Q. So we talked about abusive.  There's obscene?

A. Obscene and vulgar.

Q. Obscene and vulgar.  You would call it obscene

and vulgar as that category.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  And then what are the other categories?

A. Besides those two?

Q. Yeah, we have abusive, obscene and vulgar, and

then --

A. Off topic and/or spam.

Q. Off topic and/or spam, okay.  Just want to make

sure we're using the right language as you understand

it.  Okay.  Let's talk about obscene and vulgar.

A. Okay.

Q. My first question is what -- is there a
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difference between obscene and vulgar?

A. Not specifically.  We use those

interchangeably.

Q. So --

A. Obscenities would probably refer more to

maybe -- yeah, we use those interchangeably, yeah.

Q. Okay.  So give me your understanding of obscene

and vulgar, and if you want to use them

interchangeably you can just refer to it as obscene,

or you can refer to it as obscene and vulgar, but for

our purposes if I say just obscene I'm referring to

what you refer to as obscene and vulgar.

A. Okay.  So an obscenity, a vulgarity would be

words that would -- basically any word that's going

to be caught by broadcast television censoring, that

would be a vulgarity or an obscenity.  I'm just going

to use both every time.

Q. That's okay.

A. So typical curse words, if it's going to be

blocked on broadcast TV for, then it would fall under

that category.  Any nudity.

Q. Quickly just so it's clear, when you refer to

nudity, you're saying not text, but if somebody were

to use a photo?

A. A photo, correct.  Yeah, I think that would be
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fuzzy kind of a thing, I don't know if you've ever

heard that term.  

An evergreen post, so by evergreen I mean

something that's just -- it could go up at any time.

It's something that just kind of a Kentucky, we're

proud of Kentucky, kind of feel good post, if you

will.

Q. Okay.  So what type of post would you consider

to be off topic?

A. I would just have to see replies.  Like being

subjective -- can you clarify your question?  Because

I don't -- without seeing the replies, like I can't

think of something right off the top of my head, like

that would be off topic.

Q. So -- sure.  So let's look at some replies.

A. Okay.

Q. Let's look at Exhibit 9.

A. Okay.

Q. Is it fair to say that this is -- this Exhibit

9 is a series of screen shots of replies to the tweet

that we saw in Exhibit 8?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  So -- so are there replies here - I mean

look at the replies here.  What would you consider to

be not on topic?
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would be -- if you were to be training me on how to

monitor the Governor's social media pages, can you

give me an example of something I would be looking

for that would be off topic?

A. So what I would tell you to look for is

something that was clearly off topic.  Wouldn't be

much debate to it whether or not it was on or off

topic, so it would be clear, and I would tell you to

look for repetitive off-topic comments.

Q. And how many off-topic comments should I be

looking for?

A. Look for a pattern.  Whether it be under a

specific post or whether it be a pattern of maybe the

same -- the same comment or same kind of comment, the

same kind of off-topic comment or the same kind of

off-topic -- yeah.  Showing a pattern over an

extended period of time or under a specific post or

in that day.

Q. Okay.  So are we talking two, more than two?

A. Yes.

Q. More than three?

A. I would say I would look -- it would depend.

If it was more than three on one post, yes.  If it

was more than three over a course of a month, no.

Q. So more than three on one post as a sort of
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A. I don't know.

Q. Are you aware of anybody who is able to block

using their mobile device?

A. Can you repeat the question?

Q. Yeah, are you aware of anybody in the

communications department who can block while

using -- when using their mobile device?

A. Yeah.

Q. But you can't?

A. No.  What I'm saying is sometimes through the

app it doesn't give me the option to block a specific

comment.  It would just let me hide it.  That's not

consistent.  It's an app thing, honestly.

Q. Okay.

A. Yeah.  Technology.

MR. KUHN:  Corey, we've been going about an

hour and a half.

MR. SHAPIRO:  Yeah, let's take a break.  It's a

good time.

(Recess from 4:25 p.m. to 4:39 p.m.)

Q. What is your understanding of the process for

having someone reinstated, having their account

reinstated?

A. What's my understanding of -- 

Q. Of the process.
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A. The process?  I know we have a written policy.

They are asked -- the account holder, to have a

specific account unblocked or reinstated, would be

asked to abide by specific guidelines, and upon their

agreement would be reinstated.

Q. And how does someone find out about that

process?

A. I don't know that someone finds out about it.

I think they just ask.  They would ask.

Q. Okay.  So there's nothing on Facebook that says

if you're blocked, contact us?

A. No.

Q. No?

A. No.

Q. There's no FAQ, frequently asked questions?

A. No.

Q. And same thing with Twitter?

A. Correct.

Q. Who has the power, for lack of a better word,

to approve reinstating any user?

A. I would say that the communications director

would have any final approval if that was needed.

Q. Have you ever approved someone?

A. To be reinstated?

Q. Correct.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY 

 
ELECTRONICALLY FILED 

 

 
DREW MORGAN and MARY HARGIS, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

v. 
 
MATT G. BEVIN, in his official capacity as 
Governor of Kentucky,  
 

Defendant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

No. 3:17-cv-00060-GFVT-EBA 
 

 

 
ORDER  

 
This matter having come before the Court upon the Motion of the Plaintiffs, Drew Morgan 

and Mary Hargis, for Summary Judgment to be entered in favor of the Plaintiffs, and the Court having 

reviewed the record, applicable law, and being sufficiently advised, the Court finds that there is no 

genuine dispute as to any material fact and Plaintiffs are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

Therefore, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Motion for Summary 

Judgment filed by Plaintiffs is GRANTED as to all claims set forth in the Complaint. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED AND ADJUDGED:  

1. Defendant Matt G. Bevin, in his official capacity as Governor of Kentucky is permanently 

enjoined from enforcing the policy of permanently blocking individuals from participating in 

his official social media fora: Gov. Matt Bevin (Facebook) and @GovMattBevin (Twitter); 

2. Defendant shall within ten (10) days from the date of this Order, restore access to all 

individuals and organizations who have been permanently blocked from participating on those 

online fora;  
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3. The Court hereby finds that the Plaintiffs are the prevailing party in this action and are entitled 

to recover their reasonable costs, disbursements and attorneys’ fees from Defendant pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, in such amount as will be determined upon the resolution of subsequent 

motions made to the Court. 

The Clerk of the Court is hereby directed to enter judgment in favor of Plaintiffs. This order 

is final and appealable. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 
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